FEDERAL RESERVE’S FIRST MONETARY POLICY
REPORT FOR 2000

HEARING

BEFORE THE

COMMITTEE ON
BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS
UNITED STATES SENATE

ONE HUNDRED SIXTH CONGRESS
SECOND SESSION
ON

OVERSIGHT ON THE MONETARY POLICY REPORT TO CONGRESS PURSU-
ANT TO THE FULL EMPLOYMENT AND BALANCED GROWTH ACT OF 1978

FEBRUARY 23, 2000

Printed for the use of the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs

2k

U.8. GOVERNMENT FRINTING OFFICE
WASHINGTON : 2000

For gale by the U.S. Government Printing Office
Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402



COMMITTEE ON BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS
PHIL GRAMM, Texas, Chairman

RICHARD C. SHELRBY, Alabama PAUL 8. SARBANES, Maryland
CONNIE MACK, Florida CHRISTOFPHER J. DODD, Connecticut
ROBERT F. BENNETT, Utah JOHN F. KERRY, Massachusetts
ROD GRAMS, Minnesota RICHARD H. BRYAN, Nevada
WAYNE ALLARD, Colerado TIM JOHNSON, South Dakota
MICHAEL B. ENZI, Wyoming JACK REED, Rhode Island

CHUCK HAGEL, Nebraska CHARLES E. SCHUMER, New York
RICK SANTORUM, Pennsylvania EVAN BAYH, Indiana

JIM BUNNING, Kentucky JOHN EDWARDS, North Carclina

MIKE CRAPO, Idaho

WAYNE A. ABERNATHY, Staff Director
STEVEN B, HARRIS, Democratic Staff Director and Chief Counsel
JOMN E. Sirvia, Chief Economist
MARTIN J, GRUENBERG, Democratic Senior Counsel
GEORGE E. WHITTLE, Editor

an



CONTENTS

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 23, 2000

Opening statement of Chairman Gramm ... csssseeens
Opening statements, comments tements of:
Senator Sarbanes ..... .-
Senator Enzi ...
Senator Bunning ...
Senator Allard ..............o...
Prepared statement .
Senator Bayh ..................
Senator Johnson ...
Senator Mack ........
Senator Grams ...
Senator Reed .........
Senator Bennett ...
Senator Edwards ...... .
Senator SchUMer ...ttt eren s bmr e st s e vaneenenann

WITNESS

Alan Greenapan, Chairman, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Sys-
tem, Washington, DIC ..ottt e e smrne s srsneessnvenes
Prepared statemMent ... srre e reraseasserassssassesnesessasessnsnane

ADDITIONAL MATERIAL SUPPLIED FOR THE RECORD
Monetary Policy Report to the Congress, February 17, 2000 .........ccccrieeennnnne

(III)

g

b
N b LD W GO QO B2 -






FEDERAL RESERVE’S FIRST MONETARY
POLICY REPORT FOR 2000

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 23, 2000

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Committee met at 10 a.m., in room 216 of the Hart Senate
Office Building, Senator Phil Gramm (Chairman of the Committee)
presiding.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN PHIL GRAMM

Chairman GRAMM. Let me call the Committee to order.

I understand that Professor Sue Hedley from American Univer-
sity is here. She has her whole class here, and has been here for
11 years in a row. We are going to give an exam after this tutorial,
s0 everybody be alert out there.

{Laughter.]

Senator SARBANES, They are still trying to figure out what Chair-
man Greenspan is telling us after 11 years.

{Laughter.]

Chairman GRaMM. Chairman Greenspan, once again, let me wel-
come you before the Committee. I want to congratulate you on your
renomination. I think the overwhelming vote in the Senate shows
that there’s great confidence in your leadership.

More importantly, I want to congratulate you on your record as
Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Sys-
tem. We now have had price stability for more than a decade. It
is built into long-term interest rates. It has become part of the fab-
ric of American contemporary society.

1 know it always makes people nervous when interest rates are
raised; but it seems to me that, in the end, price stability is one
of the foundations of American prosperity.

It’'s always tempting, when people are trying to second-guess our
monetary policy, to try to second-guess what you are doing, but as
I told somebody the other day, I am not going to get into the busi-
ness of trying to second-guess the monetary policy of the most suc-
cessful central banker in the history of the United States.

I want to thank you for the great job you are doing. It makes me
happy when equity values go up because I have my old college
teacher retirement program, as I'm sure you do, TIAA-CREF.

But in terms of American interest, what is most important is
sugtaining our economic growth, preserving price stability, and
keeping a recovery that is now reaching every element of American
society.

(1)
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It is an important mission you have. We are proud of how you
are performing that mission, and we look forwartf today to hearing
your report on where we are and what you believe we need to do.

Let me now recognize the Ranking Democrat on the Committee,
Senator Sarbanes.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR PAUL S. SARBANES

Senator SARBANES. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I join
you in welcoming Chairman Greenspan.

Actually, this 1s a repeat performance. I know he was before the
House Committee last week. I'm presuming that we will continue
to hold these hearings every 6 months or so, as we have now over
qui}tlf a period of time, so that come summer, we will get first crack
at him,

Mr. Chairman, I want to underscore how important I believe it
is to hold these hearings on a regular basis. 1 believe they have
worked very well, and I think that’s Chairman Greenspan’s view.
I believe they have made a major contribution toward more open-
ness with respect to the development of monetary policy, and I be-
lieve it is enormously helpful to have these sessions.

The last time he appeared before the Committee, I thought we
referred to Chairman Greenspan as “the greatest central banker
in the world.” Today, it was “the greatest central banker in the
United States.” I presume that was just—

Chairman GRAMM. Actually, it was “the greatest central banker
in the history of the world.”

Senator SARBANES. “The greatest central banker in the history of
the world,” yes.

[Laughter.]

Chairman GRAMM. It’s like saying that a person is the greatest
Texan.

[Laughter.]

By definition, Texans are the greatest Americans, the greatest
people on the planet, but I didn’t want to overdo it. I sometimes
worry about our good Chairman getting a big head from coming be-
fore this Committee and listening to me going on about him.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Mr. Chairman, 1 am aware of the fact
that, as one of my colleagues said, when you finally climb to the
top of the mountain, all roads lead 1n only one direction.

Senator SARBANES. The Texas reference reminds me of a Bob
Strauss story, which I have to tell here this morning. You know
that George Washington was actually born in Texas and grew up
there as a very young boy. One day he chopped down the tree, and
they asked who chopped down the tree.

This is a Strauss story. This is a Texan’s story about Texas, I
hasten to add, not my story.

Chairman GRAMM. Listen, I know Strauss well.

[Laughter.]

Senator SARBANES. His father asks him, “Who chopped down the
tree?” George Washington says, “Well, I cannot tell a lie; I chopped
down the tree.” His father grabs him by the hand and says, “Come
on, son.” He says, “We’re moving to Virginia. Youre never going to
make it here in Texas.”

{Laughter.]
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Mr. Chairman, I am not going to make an opening statement of
any consequence. 1 look forward to asking CEairman Greenspan
some questions. I am particularly concerned, if some of our appre-
hensions are about our future, of the volatility and the overexu-
berance in the stock market—which there’s some reason, I guess,
to think, and that’s what a lot of the commentators are saying—
whether there's some way to get that volatility and overexuberance
calmed down without having to take measures that would in effect
calm down the entire economy if the balance of the economy is
working pretty well. Of course, we are now at low unemployment
and low inflation, which is a happy state of affairs, and obviously,
we would like to stay there.

I think one of the questions is whether, in order to address what
may be perceived as a difficulty in a limited portion of the financial
scene, were taking broad-based measureg which may result in re-
straining general economic activity, which may not need to be re-
strained. [ will try to get at that point in the questioning round.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Enzi.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR MICHAEL B. ENZI

Senator ENzI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I want to welcome Chairman Greenspan before the Committee.
Chairman Greenspan, for the great work you have done, 1 would
like to add my praise. Thank you for joining us today.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. I'm not sure who was here first.

Senator ALLARD. Mr. Chairman, Senator Bunning was here be-
fore me.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Bunning.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR JIM BUNNING

Senator BUNNING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

T would like to thank Chairman Greenspan for testifying before
the Committee today and for giving us an update on the economic
outlook, as required by the Humphrey—Hawkins Act.

However, in the spirit of the Humphrey—Hawkins Act, I must
mention that I am very concerned with the indications that the Fed
continues to pursue a policy that is based on the assumption that
higher interest rates are needed at this time. I think this is a mis-
guided policy which, in itself, could become more of a threat to our
economy than inflation will ever be.

I have no argument with the central premise that inflation is
and should be a serious concern, and that keeping inflation in
check must be a top priority of our central bank. However, the
signs of renewed inflation are simply not there.

All the indicators, with the exception of low unemployment rates,
which I really like to see, show no signs of any resurgence of infla-
tion or of any economy which is overheating. If you look at the
basis of our inflation rate, if you take out energy prices—which are
inflated in a false sense at present because of the OPEC cartel,
which has squeezed to the point where the price per barrel is at
$30 one day, or under, or over—there would be almost deflation in
this economy.
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Chairman Greenspan, please dont try to fix an economy that
isn’t broken. Don’t become so frightened by success that you throw
wet blankets on a fire that isn't %urning. large part, our current
economic expansion has been built on unprecedented—and I say
this as nicely as I can—new technology and better productivity out
of our workers that have allowed this continued expansion to go on.
I simlply don’t believe that the Federal Reserve Board’s economie
models are factoring in the full impact of these new technologies
and innovations or the sustained growth in productivity which may
have already allowed us to maintain a robust economic expansion
for as long as we have. If you become obsessed with looking for
signs of blazing inflation behind every door, and if you start slam-
ming these doors shut indiscriminately with higher interest rates,
you could easily slam doors shut on economic growth altogether.

I personally believe that we can sustain the kind of productivity
increases that have kept our economy growing with very low infla-
tion rates. But I don’t believe we can do it if the Fed continues to
raise interest rates at every opportunity.

As the interest rate climbs closer to 10 percent—prime rate, I'm
speaking about—our economy has to suffer and it has to slow
down. I am convinced that higher interest rates right now, or even
the threat of higher interest rates, are a much greater danger to
our economy than inflation.

I urge Chairman Greenspan and the governors of the Federal Re-
serve Board to review their policy to make sure that they don’t
shut down economic growth and productivity growth, trying to put
cut a fire that isn't even burning right now.

Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. Thank you.

Senator Allard.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR WAYNE ALLARD

Senator ALLARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I’mdgoing to ask that my formal statement be made a part of the
record.

Chairman GraMM. Your statement will be made a part of the
record as if read in its entirety.

Senator ALLARD. Along with you, Mr. Chairman, I want to per-
sonally welcome Chairman Greenspan to the Committee. I always
appreciate hearing what you have to say, Chairman Greenspan,
and I look forward to your comments this morning as we move for-
ward. Again, welcome to the Committee.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRaMM. Thank you.

Senator Bayh.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR EVAN BAYH

Senator BAYH, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I will reserve my comments for the questioning period, except to
say welcome, Chairman Greenspan. Thank you very much for join-
ing us today.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Johnson.
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OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR TIM JOHNSON

Senator JOHNSON, I want te welcome Chairman Greenspan. I am
looking forward to hearing what he has to say. I will forego any
further comments at this time.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. Thank you, Senator Johnson,

Chairman Greenspan, the floor is yours.

OPENING STATEMENT OF ALAN GREENSPAN
CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE
FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

Chairman GREENSPAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and
Members of the Committee.

1, as always, appreciate this opportunity to Jlresent. the Federal
Reserve’s semiannual report on the economy and monetary policy.

There is little evidence that the American economy, which grew
more than 4 percent in 1999 and surged forward at an even faster
pace in the second half of the year, is slowing appreciably. At the
same time, inflation has remained largely contained. An increase
in the overall rate of inflation in 1999 was mainly a result of higher
energy prices. Importantly, unit labor costs actually declined in the
second half of the year. Indeed, still-preliminary data indicate that
total unit cost increases last year remained extraordinarily low,
even as the business expansion approached a record 9 years.

Underlying this performance, unprecedented in my half-century
of observing the American economy, is a continuing acceleration in
productivity. Nonfarm business output per workhour increased 3%a
percent during the past year--likely more than 4 percent when
measured by nonfarm business income. One result of this remark-
able economic performance has been a pronounced increase in liv-
mg standards for the majority of Americans. Another has been a
labor market that has provided job opportunities for large numbers
of people previously struggling to get on the first rung of a ladder
leading to training, skills, and permanent employment.

Yet those profoundly beneficial forces driving the American econ-
omy to competitive excellence are also engendering a set of imbal-
ances that, unless contained, threaten our continuing prosperity.
Accelerating productivity entails a matching acceleration in the po-
tential output of goods and services and a corresponding rise in
real incomes available to purchase the new cutput. The problem is
that the pickup in productivity tends to create even greater in-
creases in aggregate demand than in potential aggregate supply.
This occurs principally because a rise in structural productivity
growth has its counterpart in higher expectations for long-term cor-
Eorate earnings. Thig, in turn, not only spurs business investment

ut also increases stock prices and the market value of assets held
by households, creating additional purchasing power for which no
additional 500ds or services have yet been produced.

Historical evidence suggests that perhaps 3 to 4 cents out of
every additional dollar of stock market wealth eventually is re-
flected in increased consumer purchases. The sharp rise in the
amount of congumer outlays relr:ative to disposable incomes in re-
cent years, and the corresponding fall in the savings rate, has been
consistent with this so-called wealth effect on household purchases.
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The additional growth in spending of recent years that has ac-
companied these wealth gains as well as other supporting influ-
ences on the economy appears to have been met in about equal
measure from increased net imports and ‘rom goods and services
produced by the net increase in newly hired workers over and
above the normal growth of the workforce, including a substantial
net inflow of workers from abroad.

But these safety valves that have been supplying goods and serv-
ices to meet the recent increments to purchasing power largely gen-
erated by capital gains cannot be expected to absorb an excess of
demand over supply indefinitely.

First, growing net imports and a widening current account deficit
require ever larger portfolio and direct foreign investments in the
United States, an outcome that cannot continue without limit.

Second, at some point in the continuous reduction in the number
of available workers willing to take jobs, short of the repeal of the
law of supply and demand, wage increases must rise above even
impressive gains in productivity. This would intensify inflationary
Eressures or squeeze profit marging, with either outcome capable of

ringing our growing prosperity to an end.

With the assistance of a monetary policy vigilant against emerg-
ing macroeconomic imbalances, real long-term rates will at some
peint be high enough to finally balance demand with supply at the
economy’s potential in both the financial and product markets.
Other things equal, this condition will involve equity discount fac-
tors high enough to bring the rise in asset values into line with
that of household incomes, thereby stemming the impetus to con-
sumption relative to income that has come from rising wealth. This
doesn’t necessarily imply a decline in asset values—although that,
of course, can happen at any time for any number of reasons—but
rather that these values will increase no faster than household
incomes.

With foreign economies strengthening and labor markets already
tight, how the current wealth effect is finally contained will deter-
mine whether the extraordinary expansion that it has helped foster
can slow to a sustainable pace, without destabilizing the economy
in the process.

On a broader front, there are few signs to date of slowing in the
pace of innovation and the spread of our newer technologies that,
as I have indicated in previous testimonies, have been at the root
of our extraordinarily impressive productivity improvement.

What is uncertain is the future pace of the application of these
innovations, because it is this pace that governs tﬁe rate of change
in productivity and economic potential.

Monetary policy, of course, did not produce the intellectual in-
sights behind the many technological advances which have been
respensible for the recent phenomenal reshaping of our economic
landscape. It has, however, been instrumental, we trust, in estab-
lishing a stable financial and economic environment with low infla-
tion that is conducive to the investments that have exploited these
innovative technologies.

Federal budget policy has also played a pivotal role. The emer-
gence of surpluses in the unified Eudget and of the associated in-
crease in Government saving over the past few years has been ex-
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ceptionally important to the balance of the expansion, because the
surpluses have been absorbing a portion of the potential excéss of
demand over sustainable supply associated partly with the wealth
effect. Moreover, because the surpluses are augmenting the pool of
domestic saving, they have held interest rates below the levels that
otherwise would have been needed to achieve financial and eco-
nomic balance during this dperiod of exceptional economic growth.
They have, in effect, helped to finance and sustain the productive
private investment that has been key to capturing the benefits of
the newer technologies that, in turn, have boosted the long-term
growth potential of the U.S. economy.

The recent good news on the budget suggests that our longer-run
prospects for continuing this beneficial process of recycling savings
from the public to the private sectors have improved greatly in re-
cent years. Nonetheless, budget outlays are expected to come under
mounting pressure as the baby boom generation moves into retire-
ment, a process that gets under way a decade from now. Maintain-
ing the surpluses and using them to repay debt over coming years
will continue to be an important way the Federal Government can
encourage productivity-eniancing investment and rising standards
of living. Thus, we cannot afford to be lulled into letting down our
guard on budgetary matters.

Mr. Chairman, although the outlock is clonded by a number of
uncertainties, the central tendencies of the projections of the Board
members and Reserve Bank presidents imply continued good eco-
nomic performance in the United States. Most of them expect eco-
nomic growth to slow somewhat this year, the unemployment rate
to remain in the neighborhood of 4 to 4% percent, and the rate of
inflation for total personal consumption expenditures is expected to
be 134 to 2 percent.

Continued favorable developments in labor productivity are an-
ticipated both to raise the economy’s capacity to produce and,
through its supporting effects on real incomes and asset values, to
boost private cfomestic demand. Strong growth in foreign economic
activity is expected to continue this year, and, other things equal,
the effect of the previous appreciation of the dollar should wane,
augmenting demand on U.S. resources and lessening one source of
downward pressure onh our prices.

As a consequence, the necessary alignment of the growth of ag-
gregate demand with the growth of potential aggregate supply may
very well depend on restraint on the domestic demand, wﬁxch con-
tinues to be buoyed by the lagged effects of increases in stock mar-
ket valuations.

Despite the appreciable increases in both the nominal and the
real intermediate- and long-term interest rates, to date, interest-
sensitive spending has remained robust, and the Federal Open
Market Committee will have to stay alert for signs that real inter-
est rates have not yet risen enough to bring the growth of demand
into line with that of potential supply, even should the acceleration
of productivity continue.

Achieving that alignment seems more pressing today than it did
earlier, before the effects of imbalances began to cumulate, less-
ening the depth of cur various buffers against inflationary pres-
sures. Labor markets, for example, have tightened in recent years
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as demand has persistently outstripped even accelerating potential
supply. As I have previously noted, we cannot be sure in an envi-
ronment with so little historical precedent what degree of labor
market tautness could begin to push unit costs and prices up more
rapidly. We know, however, that there is a limit, and we can be
sure that the smalier the pool of people without jobs willing to take
them, the closer we are to that limit,

As the U.S. economy enters a new century as well as a new year,
the time is opportune to reflect on the basic characteristics of our
economic system that have brought about our success in recent
years. Competitive and open markets, the rule of law, fiscal dis-
cipline, and a culture of enterprise and entrepreneurship should
continue to undergird rapid innovation and enﬁanced productivity
that in turn should foster a sustained further rise in living stand-
ards. It would be imprudent, however, to presume that the busi-
ness cycle has been purged from market economies so long as
human expectations are subject to bouts of euphoria and disillu-
sionment. We can only anticipate that we will readily take such
diversions in stride and trust that beneficent fundamentals will
provide the framework for continued economic progress well into
the new millennium.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I request that my full statement be
included in the record.

Chairman GRAMM. Chairman Greenspan, thank you for that ex-
cellent and sobering presentation. Hearing your presentation on
these occasions does bring back the point that economics may not
be the dismal science, but it is the science of reality. I appreciate
your comments.

I want to try to touch on a couple of things. One thing that wor-
ries me a great deal is that nondefense discretionary spending—
general Government—in the current budget is growing faster than
at any time since Jimmy Carter was President.

We are in the process of seeing a concerted effort—which I be-
lieve can be justified on national security grounds—of seeing an in-
crease in defense spending after a decade and a half when defense
spending was cut.

As you know, the President proposes in his budget the largest ex-
pansion of Medicare in American history, with a provision that
would not only irovide asgistance to the roughly 30 percent of sen-
iors who don’t have insurance coverage for pharmaceuticals, but
would provide coverage for everybody, even those who do.

I am beginning to become concerned that the Congress and the
President—and when you combine the two together, you have the
Government—is in the process of beginning a new spending spree.

I would like to get your thoughts on that, Chairman Greenspan,
as to whether you share that concern and what the potential im-
pact of that might be.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Mr. Chairman, in my prepared remarks,
I try to go into a good bit of detail on the whole question of the
budget outlock.

I have concluded that even though we have these significant uni-
fied budget surpluses, and indeed the possibility that we might be

underestimating them because B%mdeed,—-\mn_a_penod where
we are about to get, or in the process of getting, still accelerating
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productivity, meaning growth in productivity is still rising, it is
very likely that the forecasts that are made both by the OMB and
the CBO, are indeed underestimating the surplus.

On the other hand, if you look at the pattern of forecasts, they
all include a reasonably significant continuation of what 1 would
call the tax surprise of the 1990°s. And that is even after making
adjustment for capital gains taxes, for the incomes which are not
capital gains but related to the stock market, for what we call
bracket creep, you still have a very significant increase in indi-
vidual tax revenues relative to taxable incomes.

We don’t know, nor does anyhbody else know, where that is com-
ing from, and we will not until we get full details from the indi-
vidual tax returns, probably through 1999, to get a full sense of
what is involved and where it’s coming from. Pending that, we can-
not be sure that this tax surprise cannot turn around just as read-
ily as it has in the past and go in the other direction in the same
magnitude.

It is not very difficult with some reasonable assumptions to take
the unified surplus, or most of it, not to mention the on-budget sur-
plus, and chop it down substantially. I conclude from this, that
until we have a reasonably good sense of where those revenues are
coming from and therefore what is the most likely permanent in-
crease in the surplus based not on guesses on revenues, but on
hard numbers—until we get there, 1 have argued that we should
allow the surpluses to run and reduce the debt outstanding.

Indeed, as I point out in my prepared remarks, this is not an ir-
revocable commitment because you can always borrow back Fed-
eral debt after you have paid it off for any programs you want. But
I would submit that irrevocable, or almost irrevocable, programs
that are put in place now strike me as risking the possibility that
we may be wrong in this surplus. All 'm asking, in effect, is just
to delay for a while until we have a better grip of what the true
balance in our Federal Government accounts is.

I have not and did not get into, in my prepared remarks, the spe-
cifics of either the President’s program or anybody else’s program,
and I'm hopefully going to try to stay away from that, as 1 have
over the years.

As you know, my general view is that the first priority is to get
the debt down because there are very major positive economic ef-
fects, as well as building up the ability to reborrow, if need be.
That, essentially, is why the ability to keep those surpluses is im-
portant. But if it turns out that it is politically infeasible for all
sorts of obvious political reasons, then my choice is that, for long-
term fiscal stability, we are far better off cutting taxes than raising
spending.

Chairman GrRaMM. Well, Chairman Greenspan, I know it’s hard
for you, when we're talking about cengressional spending programs
or administration spending programs, to speak up. But I think it’s
very important that you follow the spending pattern of the Govern-
ment and that you not hesitate to blow the whistle when you be-
lieve there is a potential danger becaunse I think you have great
credibility on this issue. I'm always concerned about spending.

You talked about the wealth effect of the run-up in equity values.
It is a very natural thing in Congress, when we are running the
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first surplus in the political career of anyone who is here, in the
old cliche, for the money to burn a hole in your pocket, so I think
your comments are very important.

I have a few more questions, but let me stop, since I have run
over my time. I will come back at the end if we have time.

Senator Sarbanes.

Senator SARBANES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Greenspan, before I turn to the subject I mentioned in
my opening statement, I just want to ask one quick question on the
Federal Government’s economic statistics.

Unfortunately, the budget for this fiscal year required the Bu-
reau of Economic Analysis to impose a hiring freeze, and it didn’t
provide monies to examine new developments in the economy in
terms of upgrading our statistical series. It’s not a lot of money, but
we make a lot of decisions off the basis of those economic statistics,
and it seems to me you have emphasized the changes that are tak-
ing place in the economy, the new economy, so to speak.

It seems to me we need some new surveys and new measures to
try to address these changes in the economy. I wonder what your
view is on the need for at least some additional rescurces to get
these economic statistics current.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, as you well know, I am extraor-
dinarily reluctant to advocate any increase in spending, so it has
to be either a very small amount or a very formidable argument
that is involved. I find in this case that both conditions are met.

As you point out, we are moving into an economy, the structure
of which none of us has ever seen before. It looks as though it is
emerging in a manner which will set the pace for a goodly part of
the first half of the twenty-first century. This means that a lot of
the things we are looking at, a lot of the things we examine in the
economy, are very poorly represented in our current statistics,
whereas some of the detail that we have on what we call the old
economy is awesome and unnecessary.

It would strike me that, one, we have to move resources away
from some of those measures, but I agree with you that, even hav-
ing done that, additional funds could probably very effectively be
spent to improve the quality of our statistics both for the private
sector, which is crucial, and for those of us who have to be involved
in governmental economic policy.

Senator SARBANES. Thank you. We will be working on that prob-
lem here in the Congress.

I might just note that if we could get some new data, particularly
with res;;::ct to the dimensions of the new economy, it sgould bring
a lot of happiness into your day because it would give you more
data to work with and analyze every day, if I may say so.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Right.

[Laughter.}

Senator SARBANES. Now let me turn to the other subject. I want
to preface it with a story.

Earlier in the week, I attended an event in the inner city of Bal-
timore marking a Department of Labor grant for a comprehensive
education and training program aimed at school dropouts. There
was a young fellow there who had been a dropout and part of a
pilot program that had drawn him in, in effect, off the streets. He
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had been counseled, advised, then had finished his GED as part of
this program. He had received important training and moved out
into a job. He is now holding a technical job in the private sector
and doing quite well. He was there as an example of what we are
trying to atg).ieve by these programs.

A critical aspect of this program has been the employers who
have come in, private employers, to participate, and they hold the
promise of a job at the end of the course. They, in effect, say to
these young people, “If you follow this program through, there will
be a job out there for you.”

Of course, one of the reasons they have a job out there for them
is because you have a tight labor market. They are searching for
qualified employees, and this program ig designed to achieve it.

Now, you say in your statement, “Unit labor costs actually de-
clined in the second half of the year. Indeed, still-preliminary data
indicate that total unit cost increases last year remained extraor-
dinarily low.” You are projecting in the economic outlook that the
rate of inflation is expected for total personal consumption expendi-
tures to be 134 to 2 percent, or a bit below the rate in 1999, which
was elevated by rising energy prices, to which my colleague made
reference earlier in his statement.

What is the prospect for these young people? We keep struggling,
we seem to get on a pretty good playing field, then all of a sudden
we discover the goal posts are being moved on us. We are told to
get productivity up. We get productivity up. Unit labor costs are
not rising. The inflationary prediction is very good. Yet, the Fed is
now moving to tighten monetary policy in order to slow down the
economy.

If you slow down the economy, presumably, unemployment will
start to rise. The opportunities for people of the sort that I'm de-
seribing will diminish.

Now we're told, we have this problem. We have the wealth effect
of the running up of equity values. We are hearing this morning
how this theory that the increase in productivity, which we had
seen as all good, now has a dismal side to it, because it's going to
lead to this anticipation on the profit levels, the run-up on the eq-
uity assets, and then this additional spending.

Well, this young fellow is far removed from the wealth effect. He
is struggling just to try to get into a job situation. What’s going to
ha%;:en ere?

ere is a whole new theory being laid out here, as I see it, a
theory that’'s going to justify raising the rates, curtailing the econ-
omy, when there's no inflation, there’s no unit labor cost problem,
and it’s all being done on the basis of this wealth effect.

Now, I see The New York Times yesterday said, “Mr. Greenspan
was also blunter than normal in suggesting that one of his primary
targets in raising interest rates was the stock market.” If the stock
market is a problem, if the activity and the volatility is in the stock
market, we may need to think of some way to try to address that
without glowing down the whele economy and affecting the oppor-
tunities for these young people that I talked about in my opening
example.

I note that Reuters said, “Buying on margin, the Street’s version
of charging stock purchases on a credit card, went up a heart-
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ounding pace in January, climbing to a record $243.5 billion, from

228 billion in December. A decade ago, the debt load amounted to
just $35 billion.” Of course, this is something that Senator Schumer
and I spoke with you about during your confirmation hearing.

Where are we going? We have an economy of low inflation. Unit
labor costs are stable. In fact, you anticipate they are going to drop.
We are finally drawing people into the workforce who were never
there before, giving them a chance to share in an opportunity. Now,
all of a sudden, we have this theory, “Well, you are getting this
run-up in the equity assets. That creates a wealth effect. That's
going to stimulate a demand without a supply to respond to it, so
now we have to curtail the economy.” The people that will be first
to drop off the table when you curtail the economy are these young
people we are talking about that we are trying to draw into the
labor force.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, implicit in your remarks is the
notion that you are endeavoring to slow the economy to a point at
which you begin to get the significant lay-offs and significant in-
ability of people to move up the ladder of success that I mentioned
in my prepared remarks.

Senator SARBANES. Let me develop it on that point. The economy
doesn’t reach this young fellow and people like him until you get
it down to these levels of unemployment.

Chairman GREENSPAN, I agree with that. Our basic purpose is to
keep that process going. The type of economy that we are locking
at, the type that we are dealing with at this particular stage, is,
I would suspect, one that none of us has ever seen before and, in-
deed, it may be unprecedented in our history. It is characterized by
a really phenomenal change in technologies which are inducing not
only a high rate of growth in productivity, but also an accelerating
productivity.

What this has done is to very sensibly increase the market value
of assets in this economy. It has, accordingly, created what we call
the wealth effect. It is firmly documented that when people have
significant capital gains, a small part of them do induce an in-
crease in consumption. It ig in the nature of a capital gain not to
increase supply correspondingly.

The difference between the demand and supply has been, over
the last several years, as I put it in my prepared remarks, met by
goods from abroad and goods produced by people who were pre-
viously seeking a job and not Eaving found one, are now coming
into the workforce. If either of those two so-called safety valves
could be projected indefinitely into the future, then there is no inhi-
bition here in growth accelerating fully with the productivity num-
bers without any imbalances.

But the fact of the matter is we just do not have an unlimited
amount of labor. We have capped our immigration, and having
done so, we are delimited in our workforce largely te those who are
of working-age in the population, and that number continuocusly
shrinks.

The only point I'm making is that that cannot go on indefinitely,
nor can the other safety valve—imports from abroad—continue in-
definitely because the stock of assets owned by foreigners in the
United States becomes increasingly large and the debt servicing of
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those assets cannot go on indefinitely, What I'm saying is, it’s not
a theory, it’s merely an analysis of what in fact is happening.

The question I raise is that if the buffers toward imbalances are
shrinking, as they have for the last number of years, and they con-
tinue to shrink, then we are like the boat heading toward the dock.
Instead of turning so that we don’t go slamming into the dock, we
go straight into the dock and find that we should have turned, at
least partially, in order to come in—to create the triple metaphor,
I guess—for a soft landing,

The igsue here is basically the issue of, one, as Senator Bunning
says, there is no evidence right now of inflation. I cannot find it,
no matter where I look, with the exception of oil prices and some
commodity prices rising. But the major part of costs, unit labor
cost, is, if anything, improving, going down.

The problem is that we are caught with a conceptual evaluation
of this economy, which is not a theory, it's an evaluation of facts.
Even though our data is not as good as we would like, there is
enough to make this an unequivocal explanation of what'’s going on.
If that is indeed the case, it is essentially saying that so long as
immigration is capped, the wealth effect cannot persist indefinitely
because it relies on two safety valves, both of which are limited.

That is the basis of our analysis. I grant you that we do not
know exactly when we reach these triggering points. But it has
been the judgment of the Federal Open Market Committee that it
is far better to have buffers there adequate tc ensure that this
prosperity we are going through can continue at a pace somewhat
below that of the second half of last year, because that cannot be
sustained because the safety valves won’t allow it.

But we are in no way arguing that the growth in this economy
should not continue robust, that uwnemployment should not con-
tinue very low, and that prosperity should not continue as far out
as we can manage to induce it.

Senator SARBANES. Mr. Chairman, I see my time has expired.

Thank you.

Chairman GrRAMM. Senator Bunning,

Senator BUNNING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I would like to follow up on this just a bit. Chairman Greenspan,
are you telling me and this Committee that we can’t sustain a 4-
to 5-percent economic growth rate?

Chairman GREENSPAN. No, I'm not, Senator, because——

Senator BUNNING. It seems to me that’s what I'm hearing.

Chairman GREENSPAN. No, let me explain to you why not. I don’t
know what the potential growth rate of this economy is. It depends
wholly on the trend in productivity growth. As I pointed out in my
testimony earlier——

Senator BUNNING. But your monetary policy would indicate to
us, or at least to me, that you don't believe a 4- to 5-percent eco-
nomic growth rate in this country i3 sustainable without inflation,
without what you call the wealth effect being contained.

I didn’t know the Federal Open Market Committee had a job of—
this is on your own testimony—making sure the current wealth ef-
fect is finally contained.

Why do we want to contain the growth and wealth effect in this
country?
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Chairman GREENSPAN. The point at issue is that we don’t want
to contain the growth. The problem that I and my colleagues have
is that you cannot continue to get accelerating productivity and the
wealth effect with the safety valves limited.

What I'm saying——

Senator BUNNING. Well——

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, 1 do understand where you are
coming from because I have been in the same place and I think I
have convinced myself. Let me see if I can try to indicate to you
why I believe as I do on this issue.

The question of how fast this economy grows is not something
the central bank should be involved in.

Senator BUNNING. I'm convinced of that, yes.

Chairman GREENSPAN. So am I. The issue really relates to infla-
tionary imbalances. What we are looking at is basically the indica-
tions that demand chronically exceeds supply for an intermediate
period. The best way to measure that is to loock at what is hap-
pening to the total number of people who, one, are unemployed or,
two, are not in the labor force but want a job, from which we are
getting increased production.

Senator BUNNING. But you brought up in your testimony the un-
believable increase in productivity due to the many technclogical
advances that we have had. And you have no idea how to measure
that yet.

Chairman GREENSPAN. No, I disagree with that. We do know
how to measure it well enough to know that what it is that we are
concerned about is not the rate of increase in demand or the rate
of increase in supply, but only the difference between the two. The
difference between the two is measurable by the extent to which
net imports of goods and services are rising as a share of the gross
domestic product and the amount of goods that are produced as a
consequence of the unemployment rate falling or a decline in the
general pool of workers.

In other words, we don’t need to know whether the growth rate
is 4, 5, 6, 8 percent. What we need to focus on as the central bank
is solely the difference between the two, without reference to where
they are. That's where our problem lies.

Senator BUNNING. Then you believe, by setting monetary policy,
you will be able to dictate the difference of those two things to the
point that by raising interest rates from the central bank, it will
allow you to regulate or to dictate the amount of people that are
employed and the amount of wealth that’s being created, no matter
where it's being c¢reated—particularly on the stock market.

My problem is if we get prime interest rates at double digits, we
are going to stop this economy in its tracks. I don’t want to see that
happen on your watch, and I surely don’t want to see it happen on
my watch.

Chairman GREENSPAN. I appreciate that, Senator. T have the
same view.

First of all, let me just say that the crucial element in here is
not what the central bank is doing, it’s what the market is doing.

Senator BUNNING. It’s how the market reacts to the central bank.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Well, the market is far bigger than the
central bank. For example, what the market has been doing in the



15

last year, recognizing the excess demand for funds relative to sav-
ings in the system-—exactly these imbalances I'm talking about—
is to move average corporate long-term interest rates up by more
t}ﬁan a full percentage point in real terms. That is a significant
change.

Senator BUNNING. May 1 ask you what the 30-year bond is at
today? Is it at 6.2 percent?

Chairman GREENSPAN. No, the 30-year bond—you are referring
to Government bonds. I'm talking about corporate bonds.

Senator BUNNING. Are you telling me that corporate borrowing
is at 7.5, 7.2, or what? What is it?

Chairman GREENSPAN. The BBB corporate rate is, in essence, the
Standard & Poor’s BBB that is essentially the average cost; that
is, it's a geed proxy for the average cost of corporate borrowing.
That number at this stage in real terms is about 534 percent and
has about a 2V percent inflation expectation. In total, we are basi-
cally talking about close to 8 percent nominal rates.

Senator BUNNING. My time has expired. I will wait for the second
round. I have some more questions to ask.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Let me make one quick statement. When
the rate on the U.S. Treasury 30-year bond went down sharply, the
rate on ccrﬁorate bonds did not.

Senator BUNNING. The rate on corporate bonds did not go down.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Allard.

Senator ALLARD. Chairman Greenspan, I was heartened in your
testimony when you noted that there was some difficulty with the
fiscal discipline last year because I felt like I had made the same
observation.

I'm wondering if perhaps you have some suggestions on how we
can shore up our fiscal discipline so that we don't fall over the cliff
with some of our spending patterns. [ have thought at times about
a biennial budget. It may bring forth a little more fiscal discipline.
I would like to have you comment on that idea, too.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, the most important fiscal action
that has been taken in the last couple of years, or maybe the last
year, is the quite remarkable agreement between the Administra-
tion and the Congress that the Social Security surplus is off-budget
and out of bounds for being employed to finance any Government
expenditure. That is an exceptionally wise decision, and it’s gotten
very little publicity, largely because it occurred with remarkably
little contention. That in and of itself is a crucial issue.

On the issue of creating a biennial budget, I agree with you. I
think it is probably a good idea considering the process that has
been evident and the complexity of the budgets that we go through.
I think that in itself is useful.

I do think that even though the caps have been so effective for
so many years, surprisingly, because, as you know, they can be
challenged very easily by a majority, the notion of fiscal discipline
so captured the Congress that it became very difficult to break the
caps, except very recently when the pressures became exceptional
and the problems that we are aware of in the last year or so be-
came evident.

I'm not arguing for sustaining the old caps, although I would like
to see them there, if it were possible. I recognize that it is not.
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What I think would be important would basically be to reestab-
lish caps because they do turn cut to be effective, or at least have
in the past, and there’s no reason to believe they would not be in
the future, but to be sure that they are set at realistic levels and
are adhered to. That, in my judgment, would be crucial.

I also argue in my prepared remarks that moving toward the on-
budget balance as the crucial determinant of budget policy is mov-
ing us toward accrual accounting, which is the private sector norm.
That, of course, is a change, were we to go in that direction. And
I don’t perceive it as feasible in the immediate short run. But were
we to go toward that in the short run, it would he a very important
move toward having Government focus on its longer-term commit-
ments, as well as shorter-term commitments.

Senator ALLARD. We also have had some debate about extension
of the research and experimentation tax credit on a permanent
basis. Do you think this would help prolong increased productivity?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, [ have no real judgment on that
because it depends on the very specific cases.

Senator ALLARD. Let’s take the high-tech side of the economy and
maybe apply that because they seem most concerned about it.

hairman GREENSPAN. What has been really quite remarkable in
this country is our ability to create a level of technology which is
the envy of the rest of the world. We have done it basically not so
much from tax subsidies or other subsidies from Government, but
essentially from having an entrepreneur-based system in which
people could see very large rewards from successful endeavors.

I can’t say I know very much about the impact of a tax credit
on what is going on in Silicon Valley as such, but I am reasonabl
certain that the vast proportion of the success that our high-tec
industry has created has nothing to do with Government.

Senator ALLARD. Chairman Greenspan, with your indulgence, I
would like to ask one more question. It has to do with the natural
resource area. In our economy, even though we have had unprece-
dented sustained growth over the years, the one area that has been
particularly down has been farm prices and that’s been unusual,
Not only has it been grain prices, but also livestock prices. Usually,
they are countercyclical. In addition, a lot of our otfler natural re-
sources, oil and gas, for example, and minerals, have had unusu-
ally low prices.

Would you comment on what you see as the impact of what's
happening with energy prices right now? In my part of the country,
it’s a welcome sign because oil and gas prices have been unprece-
dentedly low and a lot of people have been suffering with no jobs.
Now we have some parts of the country complaining about the high
price of energy. I wondered if you would comment about that.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Well, it is no big secret why crude oil
prices are up. The inventories at refineries in the United States
and, indeed, pretty much throughout the rest of the world, have
been drawn (P wn very significantly. Indeed, in some areas of our
petroleum industry, we are running almost on fumes.

The crucial importance of this, as with all commodities, is when
inventories reach exceptionally low levels, there is no buffer. If you
get an unexpected surge in demand, you don’t get an incremental
price increase—you get a huge surge.
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One of the things we have seen in the United States, even as we
have experienced a very dramatic reduction in the importance of oil
in our economic production, is that it’s still a large enough and per-
vasive enough force within ocur economy that should we get one
of these very severe spikes, it would have a major negative impact
on economic growth. As a consequence of that, an endeavor to set
prices, as indeed the cartel endeavers to do—and cartels are not
my favorite type of institution—but even from their point of view,
for the longer-run viability of the crude oil reserves, numbers sig-
nificantly under $30 a barrel for West Texas Intermediate is clearly
in their interest and, needless to say, for consumers as well,

In the agriculture area, the problem we have had clearly is two-
fold. First, we have had an extraordinary rise in productivity. We
talk about the awesome increases in productivity in the nonfarm
area. In the agriculture area, they are even more impressive. Since
we in the United States consume a good deal less than half of a
number of the products we produce, we depend on export markets
to keep production up.

Second, clearly the Asian crisis in 1998 had a major negative ef-
fect on agricultural supplies and it’s had an obvicus major impact
on Crop prices.

The longer-term outlook for agriculture, in my judgment, is ex-
port markets. The more we can open up markets abroad—and
there’s a lot of room to do that on a lot of different continents—it
strikes me as the most important thing we can do to keep a viable,
very productive agricultural sector, which we have experienced for
so many generations.

Senator ALLARD. Thank you.

Chairman GraMM. Senator Bayh.

Senator BaYH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Greenspan, you have a difficult job and you do it well.
I thank you for that and for your appearance today.

I sensed in your opening remarks a greater sense of urgency
about the waning of some of the buffers that ameliorate the ad-
verse consequences of the imbalances between supply and demand
that you outlined. You mentioned, in particular, immigration. You
also mentioned the need for continued fiscal constraint here on the
Hill in terms of Government spending. We haven’t mentioned yet
today free trade, but I know you believe very strongly that that’s
another buffer.

My first two questions to you are: It seems to me implicit in your
remarks that reasonable immigration policies, policies promoting
both free trade and fiscal discipline, will allow our economy to grow
faster with lower inflation, maybe maintaining some of the buffers
that put pressure on monetary policy. First, is that correct?

Second, are there other buffers that I didnt mention here that
we should be aware of that have also deteriorated recently?

Chairman GREENSPAN. As best we can judge, there are really two
fundamental buffers, meaning the two safety valves which have
met the excess of demand over supply—in other words, filled the
gai)—basically imports and people coming out of the pool of avail-

ble workers seeking jobs in the workforce and producing goods.
Those are the two major elements which have absorbed the gap be-
tween supply and demand.
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To reiterate, the gap has been engendered by a major wealth ef-
fect. It was not a problem 3 or 4 years ago, basically because the
size of the safety valves, or I should say the buffers in the safety
valves—I want to be sure that’s the correct way to phrase it—were
quite large. Year after year, those buffers continued to shrink,
Even s0, we have seen no evidence of inflation accelerating as that
happened.

The question we have to confront is: Is it remotely conceivable
that both of those buffers can continue on down to zero without
pressures on the general price level?

know of no way that can happen unless we get into a centrally-
planned economy, price controls, or a variety of other things. It
would be wholly alien to human nature, and, at the root, a denial
of the law of supply and demand.

The problem that we have iz that, having not experienced this
type of phenomenon previously, we are not able to judge how big
these buffers are relative to the ultimate pressure valve. What we
do know is that if we misjudge this particular period and inadvert-
ently, as I used the analogy before, instead of turning before we hit
the dock, go straight into the dock, then I think we do very severe
damage to this economy.

The basic purpose of what we are trying to do is to sustain this
extraordinary recovery, this extraordinary acceleration in growth,
and a vibrant labor market in a manner which continues to absorb
the new people coming into the workforce seeking and getting jobs
and training on the job.

Senator BAyH. Chairman Greenspan, let me follow up on that
and ask you about our efforts to sustain this remarkable economic
growth that we have been experiencing and the human nature you
mentioned. Specifically, I would like to ask about the wealth effect
and human psychology.

There was an interesting piece in The Wall Street Journal yester-
day pointing out that the psychology of markets can move in both
directions. Accepting, for the sake of argument, that the wealth
effect does have some potential problems at this point in the eco-
nomic cycle that we have to deal with, how do we deal with that
without running the risk of, I guess in a nutshell, irrational exu-
berance which might be followed by irrational pessimism?

How do we deal with the potential harmful effects without per-
haps tipping over in the other direction?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, let me emphasize that I am not
making any judgments as to whether in fact the wealth effect is
overdone or whether the values are overdone or not. It’s just not
relevant to the argument that I'm making very specifically. It has
secondary effects.

I am essentially saying that if you are getting accelerating pro-
ductivity in an economy, the value of your capital assets should be
going up. They are actually worth more. The prospective earnings
they can generate are indeed greater. I'm not commenting on the
secondary question as to whether the rise that has occurred is
more than it should have been. As I have argued previously, it is
very difficult to make a judgment on whether we have a bubble,
which is really what that would be, except after the fact.
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I am not raising the issue in this context of there being an ir-
rational surge in stock prices or a speculative imbalance which is
threatening the economy. That'’s a different type of argument. It is
not the one I am making.

Senator BaAYH. Thank you very much.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Mack.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR CONNIE MACK

Senator MACK. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I want to
continue with this line of discussion.

If there is a sense of frustration on the part of some of the Mem-
bers of the Committee, I think it’s that for the first time, we are
hearing about possibly another gauge of evaluating or controlling
money supply. 1 was really surprised when I read your comments
of last week about, as I recall, tying asset values to household in-
come or income levels.

My first reaction to that was that there was a new component.
Fifteen or 20 years ago, we used to talk about M—1 and M-2 and
try to observe a range in which this M-1 and M-2 grew. It almost
seems like, with your discussion, you have added a new component
now to saying that one of the things you are looking at is the
growth in asset values, and it needs to {e within a certain range.
Am I wrong to draw that conclusion?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Yes and no, Senator.

First of all, let me emphasize that the issue of the relationship
between household net worth and household income is only a meas-
ure of the extent of the wealth effect. Household income has noth-
ing whatsoever to do with the determination of what the proper
values of stocks are or the general wealth. That is determined by
earnings expectations and so-called discount factors.

Senator MACK. Yes, but didn’t you tie those twa?

Chairman GREENSPAN. I did, but in a different context. It is a
statistical way of evaluating whether you have a wealth effect. It
is not an issue of what is causing the wealth effect. It is merely
a diagnostic tool to make a judgment as to whether a wealth effect
is indeed functioning in the economy.

Senator Mack. May I ask you one other question in the middle
of your thought there? We went back and compared asset growth
to income growth to see if you had a situation where asset growth
was growing significantly compared to income growth, whether
there was any relationship to inflation. We couldn’t find any.

Chairman GREENSPAN. There is none.

Senator MACK. This raises the question if the objective, which I
have said for years that the Fed should be engaged in, ig price sta-
bility, why then would there be this focus on asset growth?

Chairman GREENSPAN. First of all, let me go back and indicate
the role of wealth or net assets in the household sector, very spe-
cifically, on the economy. If you take the ratio of net worth to
household income back as far as we can get reasonably good data,
which is to the early 1920's, the ratio is reasonably low and did not
materially break out of the range that it had until well into the
1990’s. In short, the wealth effect, to the extent that it worked—
and it did on the margin—was a relatively minor factor in the
economy and, therefore, in any inflation expectations.
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What has happened in the last several years is a very major ac-
celeration in the ratio of household net assets to income. All of the
evaluations we have made of that huge increase in wealth is that
even though its relationship to consumption expenditures is about
what it's been in the years past, because wealth was so low and
its changes were so small, it never had any real relevance to what
was happening in either investment or in consumption.

It is a new world we are dealing with. The characteristic of this
dramatic acceleration in productivity and the extraordinary behav-
ior of our economy in the last 5 years is wholly novel, in my experi-
ence. And one of the key characteristics of this type of economy is
the wealth effect. The only reason I tie the wealth effect to house-
hold income is it is a measure of trying to relate it to consumption
because consumption comes out of income and wealth.

Senator MACK. Right. Let me see; you have indicated that asset
values may not be out of line as a result of the dramatic accelera-
tion in productivity.

Chairman GREENSPAN. That’s correct,

Senator MACK. But it also sounds like what you are saying is you
want to restrain asset growth because of your interpretation now
that the wealth effect has a greater impact on our economy than
it has had in the past.

Chairman GREENSPAN. I believe that would be a view that is
generally held by the economics profession. Let me give you an ex-
ample of when the wealth effect would not have an impact. I was
looking at a chart which had the ratio of wealth to income, and
what that chart shows very dramatically is that from 1922, which
is the earliest data we have, it's relatively flat, and then all of a
sudden it spikes.

The reason I raise the immigration question is basically because
it gives an insight into where the safety valves are or are not. This
type of economy, which is creating a huge surge in wealth, could
create a huge surge in consumption and growth if there were the
people to produce the goods to meet the demand. The point at issue
is there is not.

It is even credible to argue that as large as our current account
deficit is, as large as our net debt to foreigners has become, the
rates of return off the new technologies are high enough to create
an inflow of capital into the United States, in both direct invest-
ment and in portfolio investment, to finance these net imports or
current account deficits indefinitely in the future, so that there is
nothing implicit in the issue of wealth per se creating a problem.
There is a problem if the safety valves, meaning those sources of
goods and services which satisfy the excess of demand over supply,
the excess being caused by the wealth effect, are limited.

If in fact the wealth effect had no impact on consumption, if all
that happened when stock prices went up was that the market
value of assets in households went up and the market value of the
assets on the books of corporations went up, but it had no effect
on consumption, if all consumption was related to income and not
wealth, then the wealth effect would not exist. The problem of im-
balances would not exist. And they wouldn’t exist if we had the
ability to expand output indefinitely.
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The argument that I am making is we don’t have that capability
and we are blocked essentially because we have limits on how the
demand created by the wealtl{ effect can be supplied. I'm arguin£
that, as a consequence of this, the market forces, not the Feder
Reserve, are driving up interest rates to close the gap between the
supply and demand for funds, which is a counterpart to goods and
gervices.

We at the Federal Reserve are acting in conjunction with the
market and responding to it., The best I can say to you is that it
is certainly true that we have a new economy. It is different. It is
behaving differently. It requires a different type of monetary policy
to maintain its stability and growth than we have had in the past.
That is the essential isgue that we are confronted with, as best we
can see it.

Senator MAcCK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Grams.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR ROD GRAMS

Senator GRAMS, Thank you, Mr, Chairman.

Chairman Greenspan, thank you for being here,

I would like to ask you to focus on another area. I think Senator
Allard touched on it slightly. That is the impact of current mone-
tary and fiscal policies on our agricultural sector of the economy.
As you know, the sector is very important, not only in Minnesota,
but nationwide. Agriculture and agricultural commodities are very
important.

There is a growing concern, I believe, in the ag sector that the
very robust national economy that so many have enjoyed, has in
fact been bypassing rural parts of cur country. While we all sup-
port efforts in monetary policy which would squeeze out the infla-
tionary expectations from the current expansion, I think there are
many of us that are alzse concerned that these anti-inflationary ef-
forts may in fact exacerbate what is already a difficult economic
scenario for our Nation’s farmers.

As we know, the ag sector is very capital-intensive. The need to
replace and maintain some very expensive machinery is an impor-
tant aspect of farm management. The acquisition of additional land
is also very expensive. Should borrowing costs increase by even 25
to 50 basis points, I think the impact on the average farmer would
be significant.,

On the sell side of the economic equation, there is little evidence
of improving market conditions or any inflationary premiums in
the future markets. The current increase in fuel costs, I think, only
adds to an already bleak picture for many of our farmers. I have
a couple of questions relating to that.

Earlier, you mentioned that cartels were not your favorite—

Chairman GREENSPAN. Cartels are not my favorite institutions.

Senator GRAMS, Cartels are not your favorite institutions, When
looking at agriculture and dairy, would you say that the dairy car-
tel known as the Northeast Dairy Compact would be one o?your
supportive institutions?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, I have been in Government long
encugh to know that’s the type of question you don’t answer.

[Laughter.]
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Senator GraMs. QK. I appreciate that.

But first, Chairman Greenspan, in your analysis, how is the Na-
tion’s agricultural sector faring relative to other segments of the
economy? In sum, is agriculture sharing in the current boom econ-
omy that we are having?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Yes and no. Some parts are; most are not.

The problem, as I indicated to your colleague, is that productivity
has become really quite extraordinary. Yields on crops are moving
up in an awesome manner. The ability to produce is multiples of
w%at it was 30, 40 years ago.

Let’s take spring wheat, which you have a great interest in. My
recollection is only about a third of hard spring wheat is consumed
in the United States, and it is essentially inelastic. In cther words,
the demand for bread and bread products, which essentially is
what the hard wheat goes to, is not sensitive to what is going on
in the economy, so that what you have is a third of your markets
which don’t really get impacted by the huge increase in incomes in
the United States.

We are left essentially with the rest of the world market. The
weakening of export demand, especially as a consequence of the
Asian crisis, has clearly created subnormal incomes for agriculture

enerally, and for wheat farmers particularly, as prices went down.
t wasn't that many months ago that wheat, soybeans, corn, were
all flat on the bottom of any chart that you could imagine.

Indeed, I agree with you that the agricultural area is lagging.
The only beneficent part of it i3 the productivity has really been
impressive. If we can get the huge part of demand opened up—that
is, the export markets—1I think we will find that that extraordinary
productivity will finally flow down to the bottom line in a much
more impressive way than we have seen to date,

Senator GRAaMS. I think a lot of the problem is the research that
we have done and the technologies we have improved, that we have
shared with the rest of the world. We are not the only country see-
ing much larger harvests from the same, so the competition is even
heavier out there.

Just quickly, and finally, do monetary policy adjustments, such
as changes in the discount or the Fed fund rates themselves, reflect
the economic realities for the agricultural communities, knowing
the pressures that they are up against?

To follow up on that, would monetary policy adjustments aimed
at assuring that our current expansion not overheat, have unin-
tended consequences on the agricultural community?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Well, first of all, we have problems in the
United States in that there are many different segments of indus-
try and areas, but we have a central financial system, unlike what
existed 50, 60 years age when you had different financial systems
in different parts of the country and different interest rates. Early
on in the Fed’s history, we had different discount rates at different
Reserve Banks, But we now have a very effective central monetary
system in which interest rates are the same everywhere in the
economy.

The consequence of that is there is only one interest rate, and
it must be, in a sense, the average of all aspects of our economy,
so there can't be a special interest rate for agricultural loans in the
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sense that it is not affected by the supply and demand for money
since money will basically flow to wherever the demand is. In that
regard, it’s very difficult to envisage how monetary policy can ad-
just to the facts of agriculture, which are indeed as you portray
them, Senator.

Senator GRaMs. Thank you, Mr, Chairman,

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Reed.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR JACK REED

Senator REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Greenspan, the Treasury Department is embarking on
a very aggressive policy of reducing the publicly-held debt, which
is causing some concerns, at least thoughts in the debt markets.
Does this in any way complicate your ability to implement mone-
tary policy through the raising and lowering of interest rates?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Not really. There has been a lot of com-
mentary that the gradual elimination of the Treasury debt, to the
extent that that happens, would create major problems for the Fed-
eral Reserve. The reason it would not is that our policy is essen-
tially based on accumulating assets on the balance sheet of the
Federal Reserve Banks or reducing them, and accordirigly, creating
reserves for the banks.

At the moment, we are restricted essentially to a relatively few
Government-related and Government issues. But should the de-
cline in available U.S. Treasury securities get to be so substantial
that it affects our ability to have adequate securities, Government
securities, in our portfolio, should that happen, we could very read-
ily find many other ways to implement policy by certain types of
other assets we could hold.

The crucial issue is that if you are going to reduce the debt out-
standing, which we believe is very important to this country, then
you either have to take the excess of receipts over outlays and cu-
mulate assets for the Government, or use the funds to pay down
debt. I much prefer the second. In so doing, you create avenues for
the private sector to create new instruments which substitute
themselves as so-called benchmarks for the Treasury securities.
You will find that if these riskless instruments become extremely
scarce, there will be very strong incentives in the marketplace to
create AAA-plus private credits to substitute for these types of
instruments.

I think the complexity and flexibility of the private financial sys-
tem is such that the elements of particular benchmark securities
that are created through Government issues are very readily, in
my judgment, replaced by comparable private sector issues.

Senator REED. Many proponents of this policy, Chairman Green-
span, have suggested that by retiring publicly-held debt, you will
effectively pull down interest rates because there will be "less Gov-
ernment intrusion into the private debt markets. If your policy, as
it is now, and for the foreseeable future, is to raise interest rates,
will you have to, in effect, overcompensate for this other effect?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Well, first of all, remember that to the ex-
tent that Government debt goes down, over the long run, long-term
interest rates will be lower than they otherwise would be. We are
not talking about huge changes and we are certainly not talking
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about the notion of cyclical or countercyclical monetary policy be-
cause we are talking about a broad trend.

If you are asking me in a strictly technical sense, are there a few
basis points which probably have to be overcome because of this,
probably, but they are very few and, really, of no real relevance to
the development of what is going on in the economy,

Senator REED. Finally, Chairman Greenspan, you point out that
we are in a new economy. I wonder if there is any, to your mind,
other historical periods in which & new economy emerged that you
can draw lessons from or look to for insights as to what is hap-
pening now, or is this so new, so novel, that it's sui generis?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, a lot of people look back to the
major technological changes at the latter part of the 19th century
as a clue to the type of things that are going on. I used to think
that could fully explain what's happening today. In the last year
or so, I have concluded that we appear to be moving beyond that.

I know of nothing that even remotely looks like what we are ex-
periencing today. ’%he relationships are different. A fundamental
root of this extraordinarily successiul economy that we have is, one,
the synergies of a number of new technologies that have come to-
gether, coupled with a financial system and an economic system
which has enabled those particular new technologies to be devel-
oped in a manner to very markedly enhance standards of living of
the American people. This is new.

The type of policy that we have to devise has to reflect the na-
ture of how the new economy is working. A number of the old tools
which we relied upon don’t have relevance to this.

It may be that we are going through a short-term period and it
wil! be back to where we were in a few years, in which case this
will be a novel period. It will be a period in which monetary policy
is novel, and then we go back to the old techniques in a few years.
That may very well be the case. All 1 know at the moment is the
endeavor to apply the usual policies that we have employed over
the years to wﬁat is going on today is misunderstanding the nature
of the forces that are at play here.

Senator REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Bennett,

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR ROBERT F. BENNETT

Senator BENNETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Greenspan, I apologize for being late. I was presiding
over a hearing of the Joint Economic Committee on the issue of
critical infrastructure protection, and out of that hearing came a
line that I want to apply here. One of the witnesses likened the
Internet to a neighborhood where all of the houses are in a circle
and all of the backyards are the same backyard. He said if any one
of the householders doesn’t lock his front door, every one of the
householders is at risk because the individual can go through that
one house and through the backyard, gaining availability to every
house simultaneously. This is the line he used, he said, “A national
solution is no solution. It must be an international solution to the
question of Internet vulnerability and security.”

I think I'm hearing you say that the same thing is applying to
the economy. Not to the exact same extent here, because you don’t
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have the technological connection that you have on the Internet,
but we are in an interdependent economy and a purely national so-
lution ultimately becomes no solution.

1 associate with my friend from Florida on thinking that the pri-
mary function of the Fed should be to maintain price stability, gut
you have raised this issue of inadequate labor to provide us with
the kind of productivity increases that we need to meet the demand
that we are getting, and that raises the whole question of H-1B
visas, for example. In this room we had testimony, Chairman Mack
was presiding, of a witness who gaid, “This work will get done,”
speaking of particular high-tech work. He said, “This work will be
done and it will be done by these people, because they are the only
people available to do it.” The question is, will it be done in the
United States or will it be done in their countries of origin?

If you don’t give us H~1B visas to bring these people to the
United States, the work will be done by these people overseas.
America will be the loser in terms of not having those people live
here, not having them pay taxes here, not having them raise their
families here and provide the kind of workforce that you referred
to. It is not just immigration at the lower level, it is immigration
generally, in terms of an internationally mobile labor force.

Now, could you comment on what you see in that general area
about labor, labor availability across national lines?

Chairman GREENSPAN. It is not an accident that I present the
safety valves as being goods from abroad or people from abroad.
What that is suggestive of is exactly the point you are making,
1Slenator, namely that there is an internationalization taking place

ere.

It’s a very difficult problem because, while I can hold forth on the
economic benefits of immigration or visas or what are implicit in
an economic argument, that's not the only relevance that immigra-
tion raises. There are many issues, cultural questions, issues that
have bedeviled the United States for 100 years in this area.

But speaking as an economist and evaluating the type of econ-
omy which we are currently experiencing, the benefits of bringing
in those people to do the work here, rather than doing the work
elsewhere, to me, should be pretty much self-evident.

Senator BENNETT. We are talking about a form of protectionist
mentality. 1 find the same people that do not like international
trade, at least to the degree that I do—people who have opposed
NAFTA, have opposed GATT, who have opposed Fast Track—are
the same people who are opposing the H-1B visas and other forms
of immigration reform to allow the transfer not only of individuals,
but also of goods and services across international hnes.

Could this wave of protectionism mentality, wherever it is ap-
plied, ultimately bring down the economy, or at least significantly
slow the kind of growth we are all luxuriating in right now?

Chairman GREENSPAN. I have always worried about that. And I
have become increasingly concerned about it as the rate of growth
and productivity rises. It seems like an unrelated issue, but as
we are creating an ever more complex, sophisticated, accelerating
economy, the necessity to have the ability to bring in resources and
people from abroad to keep it functioning in the most effective
manner increasingly strikes me as relevant elements of policy.
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Senator BENNETT. So the mentality we saw in Seattle could in
fact, in a variety of areas, ultimately kill this current golden goose?

Chairman GREENSPAN. There is a certain sadness involved in
this because one of the characteristics of very rapidly changing
technology is it creates a real deep-seated fear of job skill obsoles-
cence. People no longer have the sense that, once they graduate
from high school or college, they have the tools for the rest of their
working lives. There is a general rising sense of uncertainty which
is manifested, incidentally, in the very dramatic increase in com-
munity college enrollment—people going back essentially for refur-
bishing skills they had not received in their original education.

My own judgment, as indeed, I suspect is yours, is that they are
mistaken. But I do understand where it is coming from. It would
be a mistake for us not to recognize what that is, where it’s coming
from, and to try to find a way to remove the uncertainty and the
fear which is deep in many people. That is why the whole edu-
cational issue interfaces with the economic outlock. Unless we can
resolve this issue, I do think the forces against globalization can
significantly undercut this remarkable surge in prosperity that we
are observing.

Senator BENNETT, Thank you.

Chairman GRAMM, Senator Edwards.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR JOHN EDWARDS

Senator EDWARDS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, Chairman Greenspan.

Can you tell us on a scale from one to ten, with one being no con-
cern at all, to ten being a great deal of concern, how concerned the
American people should be about the pessibility that this year, in-
flation cou?d rise to 6 or 7 percent?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Can I go below one?

[Laughter.]

My own judgment is that inflation, at this stage, is very well con-
tained. If the markets function properly and the central bank func-
tions properly, it should stay that way.

Senator EDWARDS. Good. That’s very encouraging.

Senator Bennett, in his questioning, talked about the Internet
and Internet security. I wonder about all of this hacking we have
seen recently reported in the news, particularly on some of the
major Web sites. I'm curious as to whether you have any feelings
about the potential impact that hacking, if it’s not brought under
control by law enforcement, could have on the economy.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Do you mean encryption generally?

Senator EDWARDS. Yes.

Chairman GREENSPAN. One of the most alluring problems that
mathematicians have these days is whether somebody can create
an encryption which another mathematician cannot break, The re-
sult of this is that we are getting ever more complex mechanisms
to secure various different transactions and transmissions. With
the major acceleration in capacity that we are getting in our sys-
tems for data crunching, one would think that you could create an
encryption which just cannot be broken in a finite period of time.

My impression basically is that the technology hopefully should
be able to resolve this. But I cannot say to you that I know enough



27

about it to feel comfortable as to how that will work out. I do know
that if we struggle a great deal and try to find governmental mech-
anisms, such as restricting exports of encrypted types of materials
and the like, we cannot be sure it’s going to work.

What we have to do is lock to the private sector to find the most
effective means of encryption, recognizing that the life expectancy
of any particular comrfg;: encryption is hmited, and ultimately it
will be overwhelmed Ey the capacity to unwind the code. It is a
continuous process where you never get the ultimate solution, but
you are constantly trying to keep ahead of those who want to pirate
the gystems.

Senator EDWARDS. Let me change gears. I know you are aware
of the fact that a House commitiee passed out last week legislation
that would eliminate the Social Security earnings test.

I'm curious what effect, if that legislation actually became law,
it would have, if any, on the labor markets,

Chairman GREENSPAN. Well, it has two effects. One, clearly it
has an effect on the Social Security trust funds and the whole So-
cial Security system. The effects there, I might add, are to create
a reduction in the receipts of Social Security, or I should say to in-
crease benefits actually.

The presumption, of course, is that you will get an increase in
the number of retired people coming back into the workforce. I
don’t know what the orders of magnitude are, but clearly, to the
extent that happens, that is a positive effect.

How one balances the increased issue of benefits and strain on
the Social Security system, on the one hand, and increased labor
force availability, on the other, is something 1 can't make ‘a judg-
ment on. But it does strike me that the general notion of looking
at the average age of retirement and the average age at which one
obtains full benefits has always been one that I thought appro-
priate in any discussion on Social Security.

Senator EDWARDS. Let me ask you a two-part question.

In this period of extraordinary prosperity that we are enjoying,
can you define for us as clearly as you can your view of what demo-
graphic group is benefiting most from this prosperity?

Second, I noticed you commented last week in your testimony
about raising the minimum wage. I wondered if you had any views
about what, if anything, we could do to address the income dis-
parity that we are facing in this country today?

Chairman GREENSPAN. As best I can judge, Senator, everybody
is benefiting to a greater or lesser extent from this extraordinary
prosperity. In a relative sense, when compared to recent history,
it’s clearly those at the lower income levels which are benefiting
the most.

But let me characterize that in a somewhat different sense. The
lower 20 percent of households characterized by income had a flat
real average household income for about 15 years, from 1980 to
1995, whereas most of the rest of the households were showing sig-
nificant gains.

Starting in the last 4 or 5 years, that group has all of a sudden
taken off. It’s growing about the same as everybody else, so that
it is not as though it is improving faster.

Senator EDWARDS. Why is that happening?
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Chairman GREENSPAN. It’s happening because the labor markets
are getting ever tighter and the Jt)eemand for every of slill, low
skill to high skill, has gone up very dramatically, The demand for
labor has gone up to a point where the spectrum across income
groups has now been pretty much obliterated. The so-called college

remium, the extent to which people with college educations have

een able to increase their income relative to high school grad-
uates, the gap that had been opening up mainly because of the
technological nature of the economy we have, that increase has
stopped. The prosperity seems spread evenly everywhere. The dis-
tribution of income which had become increasingly skewed to the
upper income groups through most of the 1980’s and 1990's stopped
in the middle of the decade, and everyone's income has been grow-
ing roughly about the same amount, meaning that the concentra-
tion of income hasn’t changed much in the last 5 years. It is not
that the lower income groups have improved. It's that they stopped
losing ground.

When you look at the distribution of wealth, clearly with the
heavy concentration of stock holdings in upper income groups, in
the last 4 or 5 years it has been materially shifting upward toward
upper income groups.

enator EDWARDS. I thank you, Chairman Greenspan.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GRAMM, Senator Schumer.

OPENING COMMENTS OF SENATOR CHARLES E. SCHUMER

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Greenspan, I would like to return to the subject we
talked about a couple of weeks ago in this rocom, which is margin
requirements.

First, let me say the economy is in great shape, as you know and
deserve much of the credit for. Productivity continues to grow at
a rate almost unforeseen. Inflation is extremely low. You almost
couldn’t ask for more.

The one real concern that you brought up and mentioned today,
of course, is the wealth effect, which is that more spending will
come about because people have more wealth. I think you noted
last week that about 80 percent of the wealth effect comes from the
equity markets. Even within those equity markets, it comes from
a certain group of stocks—I believe the Dow Jones has gone up
ahout 15 percent over the last year. I don’t own any stock, so [
might be off, at little peril to myself, at least financially. The
Nasdaq has also gone up rather dramatically.

All of that leags me to wonder, and you have talked about rais-
ing interest rates, the possibility of raising interest rates to deal
with this wealth effect, if not immediately, perhaps down the road.
All of this leads me to ask the question t]gat jumps out, at least
at me, which is: Given the relative stability of our economy overall,
isn’t raising interest rates too blunt an instrument, a meat cleaver
rather than a scalpel, whereas dealing with margin requirements
or some other alternative that focuses on this dramatic rise in the
equity markets that some, at least, feel in certain instances, not in
every instance, is a little overheated or overstated, wouldn’t that be
a better way to go?
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That's the first question.

The second is, in general, related to that. That is, if this wealth
effect continues, do you mean to say that, as the stock market goes
up, you will continue to raise interest rates—of course, depending
on how much it goes up?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Let me just emphasize, Senator, that we
are not focusing monetary policy on the stock market. We are fo-
cusing it on the economy. To the extent that the stock market af-
fects the economy, we respond to that. But it doesn’t necessarily
follow that as stock prices go up or go down, it will have an effect
on the economy which requires us to respond, so that we don't look
at stock prices and say, stock prices are rising; we have to raise
interest rates.

Senator SCHUMER. But you lock at the wealth effect, which is
basically——

Chairman GREENSPAN. We do lock at the wealth effect, but the
wealth effect is not that closely tied to the stock market. It is a
broad thing, but we cannot argue that there is a direct relationship
between what's happening in the stock market and what’s hap-
pening to monetary policy. That is not our interest.

Leaving that aside, I am going to go back to the question of if
it were our interest, which 13 what you are implying in the first
question.

Senator SCHUMER. Correct.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Would not increasing margins be better?
If the evidence indicated that raising margins would affect stock

rices, then the answer to that hypothetical question would he yes.

ut the evidence that we have, going back a long period of time,
is that margin requirements, per se, do not affect stock prices,
They do affect borrowing patterns, and they affect the prudential
safety of brokers and dealers and banks anc? others, but they don’t
affect stock prices.

Senator SCHUMER. Is the trend the type of jump trend we saw
in November and December, with margin borrowing continuing as
we move into the new year?

Chairman GREENSPAN. It moved up in January.

Senator SCHUMER. It did?

Chairman GREENSPAN. It did.

Senator SCHUMER. Did it move a similar amount?

Chairman GREENSPAN. My recollection is that it was somewhat
smaller, but yes, it is still rising to a significant extent,

As a consequence of that, however, there have been at least some
anecdotal discussions on Wall Street which suggest that a number
of broker—dealers are looking at their extensions of credit to be
sure that they are not overextending themselves. And there have
almost surely been some marked increases in maintenance marging
on the part of individual broker—dealers who are looking at what
some of their customers are buying, and they don’t like it because
they are trying to protect themselves.

That, in our judgment, is the major use of margins, not our mar-
%in authority, which is strictly the minimums, but what individual

rms do to protect themselves, as they should. My impression is
that, having looked at the dramatic surge in margins and the fact
that it's become a public issue—and, Senator, you have been very
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instrumental in putting it on the table—is itself beginning to have
some effect in creating a bit more sensibility in that process.

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Chairman Greenspan.

Mr. Chairman, may I ask one more question, or are we going to
have a second round?

Chairman GRAMM. We are going to have a second round.

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM. Chairman Greenspan, there are a couple of
things I want to touch on, and I will try to be brief.

First of all, T would like to throw cut that my guess is that 20
years from now, when we have a much better fix on contemporary
history than we do now, the progress of the people in the bottom
quartile of income will have been produced not only by the strong
recovery, but algo by the dramatic reform in welfare.

I would argue that for the previous 15 years, they have been
largely detached from the economy and its performance by the fact
that welfare was the dominant Government program, not just wel-
fare as we narrowly define it, but basically payments that are
made based on income, that that has been the dominant factor in
any income measure in that quartile, and that reforming welfare
produced the push and the economic growth produced the pull that
have generated what is obviously a wonderful thing. I wanted to
throw that out.

We have an H-1B proposal now before the Congress. As you
know, the allowable level of immigration of high-tech workers is in
decline under current law, down over the next 2 years to 65,000.
We have a bill to raise it to 195,000 for the next 3 years, and also
to exempt—with a focus on people who are educated in America,
the logic being, as you are probably aware, about half of all the
graduate students in America today are foreign-born. That is even
more pronounced in technical areas, and they are among ocur best
students. The idea is to give them a preference in staying here,
and, in fact, we exempt from the 195,000 those with advanced de-
grees in technical areas.

I wanted to give you an opportunity, given what you have said
about immigration, to comment on whether or not you think that
passage of such a bill—-I'm not claiming you have knowledge of the
details—but whether the basic thrust of such a bill would be a
good thing for the economy today or not.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Mr. Chairman, as you point out, I am not
familiar with the details of the bill, but certainly the principle that
you are putting on the table is something which I could and would
fully support.

Chairman GrRAMM. Let me go back to equity values, because I
think people hear what you are saying and conclude that you be-
lieve that equities are overvalued. I have tried to look at the stock
market today and have tried to reach my own internal conclusion.
A little like Senator Schumer, I invest in groceries and tuition, and
I'm doing well on the groceries.

[Laughter.]

I'm hoping to do much better on the tuition in the relatively near
future.

(Laughter.]
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I guess if somebody forced me to bet good money, I would bet
that equity values, given what's going on, are not only not over-
valued, but may still be undervalued. I don’t know that.

But the wealth effect that you are talking about is easy for me
to understand. When I came to Congress, I had taught for 12 years,
and my little TIAA-CREF investment, after you paid taxes on it,
might have bought a tractor. Today, it would buy a farm. People
can’t help but be affected by that kind of change. [ think when you
have a change in equity values in a year, 20 percent or 25 percent,
that has to create a wealth effect.

Some of our colleagues are concerned about consumer debt. Well,
if you are a white-collar worker and the value of your financial
wealth is rising by more than your income, when you take inte ac-
count your 401¢k) and your IRA’s, you have to be affected or you
are irrational.

The wealth effect is easy for me to understand, and it seems to
me that it is a very relevant factor because financial wealth is so
widely dispersed. It is my understanding that we have passed the
point where the average family now has more financial wealth
than the equity value of their home. When equity values go up by
20 percent in a year, it has to effect the economy.

I wanted to run back over that trail one more time and give you
a chance to comment on it.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Mr. Chairman, to reiterate what I said
earlier, the issue of stock prices and equity values generally going
up as a consequence of the accelerating productivity is a perfectly
understandable and appropriate thing to happen. That is, the real
value of assets has indeed increased. And remember that all value
is future value. It’s an endeavor to infer what capabilities there are
in the future essentially discounted to a present value.

That that has happened is, in my judgment, unquestioned. That
alone is enough to raise a wealth effect and the related type of
demand/supply imbalance without any advertence to the question
as to whether or not stock prices are undervalued, appropriately
valued, or overvalued. All you need to know is that they went up.

The issue of whether they are undervalued or not depends, as I
just indicated, on how one views the future. It is a crucial question
as to what the future will lock like, which is, in the deepest sense,
not forecastable.

The problem that we therefore have is when we look back in ret-
rospect, we will know whether we had a bubble in there which was
essentially that part of the increase in stock prices—not all of it,
but part of it—which was not appropriately valuating what the
technologies could truly do. We will know that only in retrospect
because we cannot project the future.

As 1 have said previously before this Committee, bubbles are visi-
ble only in retrospect. If we could actually identify a stock market
bubble in advance, we would have to be willing to say that there
is a very high probability that in the very near term, values will
fall by, say, 40 percent.

We also have to be able to say that all of the pension funds, all
of the sophisticated people who are involved in pricing stocks, don’t
know what they are doing. Now, that may well be the case. I'm
merely saying that the hurdle to argue that there is a bubble is an
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important hurdle. There are lots of people who have very strong
views on this, one way or the other, and the basis of the evidence
which they adduce I do not find persuasive in one way or the other.

I have my own views and tﬁey are just as valid as everybody
else’s, which isn’t very much.

Chairman GRAMM. Senator Sarbanes.

Senator SARBANES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I have two subjects I want to cover, Chairman Greenspan. Before
I turn to the first, I want to make this observation. I don’t think
the example of bringing the ship into the dock is an apt example
because you never dock the economy. One of your challenges is to
keep sailing the ship, as it were, on course. But the notion that
somehow, at some point, it comes to a terminus and the voyage is
over——

Chairman GREENSPAN. All analogies are awful, Senator.

Senator SARBANES. All right. Now, I have heard you speak in the
past with some feeling about this problem of income and wealth
disparity in this country and its significance. The top 1 percent of
Americans, which is 2.7 million people, take home as much after-
tax income as the lowest 38 percent, which is 100 million people
combined. The trend has worsened over the years. In 1977, tll")ne top
1 percent of Americans received 7.3 percent of all national after-
tax income. In 1999, it is expected to be just under 13 percent. It
is not too far from having doubled in that 22-year period, and that
is for the top 1 percent.

1 set that out because I'm very concerned about this wealth effect
notion that has come forth now as a basis for raising interest rates.
Because you have a wealth effect, you get, as I understand it, addi-
tional consumption which outstrips the available supply. You feel
that there will be an inflationary problem and, therefore, you need
to start raising the interest rates in order to dampen the economy.

I want to go back to the example that I used at the outset of this
education and training program which is drawing these at-risk
youth, school dropouts, into the labor force. I talked to a couple of
employers, as I said, about this program because the employers are
important. They promise a job at the end of the line. They said to
me, “Well, we are doing this because we think we are performing
a service and doing some good, but the fact of the matter is, we
also have an economic interest in doing this because, with the
tightening labor market, we are looking for ways to bring people
in, develop their skills, make them part of the trained worlEforce,
and therefore, it serves our economic interest to participate in this
program, to hold out a job at the end of the day.”

One reason they are in it is because we have had this rapidly-
growing economy. These additional strains have, in effect, made it
to their interest to participate and help to develop this workforce.
Now we hear about this wealth effect. Well, if you slow down the
economy, thg are not going to be so interested in participating.

In effect, the wealth effect, which I am struggling still t¢ under-
stand, I perceive would affect really a minority of our population.
About half of our population have no stocks at all. The other half,
a large portion of them have only very small holdings. Others are
counted because they participate through pension activities, so they
are setting it aside for their retirement.
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If you talk about who gets this wealth effect that leads them to
consume, which gets you worried about overheating the economy,
it is going to be a relatively small part of the population. Yet, to
deal with the situation that they are creating, we, in effect, are
going to curtail the movement of the economy that’s going to have
a dramatic impact on our efforts to bring people into the workforce.
I have a very deep concern about that circle.

Since the yellow light is on, let me put my other concern to you.
You spoke about the waning of the buffers that would enable us
to continue this fast-paced economy, and you mentioned immigra-
tion and imports. I take it, on the import side, since the current
account deficit has risen by a tremendous amount—it’s at record
highs—that the growth in the current account deficit is a problem
that we need to look at.

Now, you have said, conceivably, the return on investment in the
high-tech sector would be sufficient to continue to draw in capital
which would cover the gap created by the trade deficit.

Chairman GREENSPAN. I think I said it might be.

Senator SARBANES. It might be. So we are getting closer to those
parameters. In other words, I take it that that’s a statistic about
which we should have some concern—a very large run-up in the
current account deficit. Would you agree with that?

Chairman GREENSPAN. I agree with that, Senator.

Senator SARBANES. Now if we could address the first issue.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Yes. Senator——

Senator SARBANES. And I assume we agree about the boat and
its voyage and so forth. I have you on a perpetual voyage, trying
to sail this economic ship of state around. I don'’t think it’s going
to come in to dock yet.

Chairman GRAMM. Well, maybe the wind blowing the ship into
a rock is a better analogy.

[Laughter.]

Senator SARBANES. All right.

Chairman GraMM. He has to tack around the rock.

(Laughter.]

Chairman GREENSPAN. The problem with analogies is that they
are always subject to qualifications which, if you keep working at
them, have no value whatsoever.

Senator SCHUMER. Welcome to the Merchant Marine Committee,
Chairman Greenspan.

[Laughter.]

Senator SARBANES. The advantage, though, is you don’t really
have to explain anything.

Chairman GRAMM. People know what you are talking about.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Let me put it this way. You cannot sub-
stitute an anecdote for a syllogism.

[Laughter.]

Senator SARBANES. All right.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, first of all, as I envisage what is
essentially the policy of the Federal Reserve, it is to recognize that
the rate of growth of the economy has to phase down to a level
which is capable of being continued essentially indefinitely.

That particular trend still envisages a major inflow of workers
from those with high school educations or less into the market.
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1 do not perceive that what we are talking about is some form
of monetary policy which squeezes the economy down into a sub-
normal rate of growth. My own view is that the economy should
and will grow at the rate of increase in productivity plus, over the
long run, the rate of increase in the working-age population. Noth-
ing that I envisage as far as monetary policy is concerned in any
way suggests that what the Federal Reserve has in the back of its
mind is some form of putting brakes on the system which brings
the economy to a roaring halt.

That is not what the overall markets are doing or what we per-
ceive to be our function. Our function is to create stability and to
maintain a noninflationary financial system. It is not consistent
with the view that says that what we wish to do is to slow the
economy down in a dramatic fashion because I do not believe that
that is what our overall policy has been over the years, nor is it,
as best I can judge, in the future.

I indicated before the House Banking Committee last week that
we perceive that the optimum monetary policy, if it is feasible, is
to move incrementally. Incremental does not imply slamming on
the brakes. You slam on the brakes only when there are no other
alternatives to restore stability in our economy.

We needed to do that back in 1979, when inflation was running
into a dangerous loop. We needed it on occasion in the past where
things looked to be on the edge of instability.

What I have tried to argue today is not that we are on the edge
of instability, but that we have an extraordinary economy which is
growing at a pace which is somewhat above the level which is sus-
tainable over the long term. That does not mean the productivity
growth cannot continue to grow and, indeed, create a long-term
level of growth higher than what we experience now.

But what we consider to be important is not to allow the safety
buffers to shrink to a point where they are no longer capable of ab-
sorbing an excess of demand over supply, which invariably occurs
in the normal state of affairs.

Senator SARBANES. Well, let me just make this observation. We
have needed the economy to move at this pace in order to finally
reach the point where we are drawing this heretofore, in a sense,
neglected population into the labor market and into the economic
mainstream. For the first time, unemployment amongst African—
Americans and unemployment amongst Hispanics is the lowest on
record, and I regard tﬁat as a very important and a very significant
development.

If we needed the economy moving this way to get to that point,
and then we start slowing the economy down, it carries with it the
real risk of receding from the advances that we have been making
in this regard.

I'm not arguing that you should push the economy even more or
intensify it, but I am concerned about trying to pull it back and
what impact that's going to have.

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, it certainly is not my expecta-
tion. But clearly, we are confronted with a situation which cannot
continue to exist indefinitely in the future. It is on a track, whether
or not we talk in terms of running into the dock or whether we talk
in other types of analogies. The underlying fact at this point is that
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we have a system which is creating continuous reductions in the
safety buffers which cannot continue indefinitely at the pace that
it is going and maintain the degree of prosperity that we have.

That is not to say that if we get to balance, that that in any way
is going to create a retardation of the tremendous benefits that
have occurred which you have cited. I think there’s no question, I
agree with you, they have been very formidable, positive factors in
our economy and in our society.

Senator SARBANES, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GRAMM, Senator Schumer.

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I have three guestions. First, following up on the recent discus-
sion we had, I think, again, I share your view. You have always
stated, over your years, that you want to avoid slamming on the
brakes, and sometimes incremental changes are made in order to
avoid doing that. I think you have always said, once the genie of
inflation is out of the bottle, you can’t get it back in, and I think
that has served us well for a long time.

On the other hand-—and this relates both to what we were talk-
ing about before and what has been discussed here today—if pro-
ductivity should be even higher than what we think it is today, and
continue to grow that way—productivity is almost the magic and
core number here—it seems to me it may well mean that we could
continue to grow at the same level that we are growing without
much change.

In addition, I think my constituents in New York were very glad
to hear what you said in answer to the question before, that you
are not going to base monetary policy on the stock market. Obvi-
ously, there is an intermediary factor, which is the wealth effect,
which may or may not be directly related. But if an accurate guess
of increased productivity accounts for both an increase in the stock
market—and, as you mentioned, we can’t predict bubbles—but at
the same time accounts for the relatively good shape that the econ-
omy is in, and keeps us on keel that way, then, again, we may be
in such good shape that neither a tightening in a narrower way,
in a small way, in an incremental way, or a tightening in a larger
interest rate way may be necessary. Is that fair to say?

Chairman GREENSPAN. 1t depends. It depends on whether the ac-
celeration in productivity carries with it further increase in stock
prices. If it does not, then what you said is accurate.

The problem has to be an evaluation of whether in fact the ac-
celeration in productivity does or does not create a wealth effect
tvir;hjCh opens up the gap between demand and supply. If it does not,

en—

Senator SCHUMER. We could keep going.

Chairman GREENSPAN. —what we will experience is just an ac-
celeration of economic growth and no increases in imbalances from
that source.

Senator SCHUMER. Right. I agree with that. We just don’t know,
I guess, is the angwer to that.

Chairman GREENSPAN. No.

Senator SCHUMER. I have two other questions. Now that we have
had a good deal of success in reigning in the deficit, there is a lot
of talk that the good old benchmark of the 30-year Government
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bond is not gcing to be there if we keep going on the track we
are—] guess it’s 2013 now, which is 13 years away, not 30—and
that something has to come and take its place. Who knows what
it will be?

We are already seeing the effect of that. Could you comment on
the problems, or the transition of the benchmark?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, benchmarks are made by the
markets themselves.

Senator SCHUMER. Correct.

Chairman GREENSPAN. It's not something which is promulgated
by Government.

Senator SCHUMER. Right.

Chairman GREENSPAN. The U.S. Treasury 30-year bond has been
an extraordinary instrument in that it's the longest-term, risk free
instrument that we have, and all sorts of transactions have been
posited against that particular base.

Should it disappear, and it certainly will if we eliminate the debt
by 2013 or any time, something else will substitute because it is
necessary. At the moment, there is talk in the marketplace that so-
called swap spreads are becoming enticing.

But what will happen is that something else will end up as the
benchmark. It may very well be that some financial institution or
a group of them would get together and create AAA-plus private
instruments, and that would serve as a benchmark.

I'm not concerned about the problem. The financial market and
the sophistication of the system is such that if there is a demand
for a benchmark, it will be created.

Senator SCHUMER. Right. And it doesn’t affect the economy much
if that benchmark is either shorter-term or private, rather than a
public instrument.

Chairman GREENSPAN. It does not. It will certainly affect a num-
ber of people on Wall Street and how they function, but as far as
the economy is concerned, it will have no effect that I can see.

Senator SCHUMER. Just cne final question, if I might, Chairman
Greenspan. Today, I believe the SEC is going to issue a conczpt
release on fragmentation of the markets. There are all of these new
ways to trade stocks, and they are all being practiced in different
corners of the financial markets. There's good news to that. That
creates competition and probably a more efficient system.

But there are many people who worry that fragmentation of the
markets is not only producing competition, but also inefficiencies
and disparities in prices. The depth and the transparency of our
mgrkets might not inspire the same level of confidence that it does
today.

Would you comment on fragmentation? Are you worried about it?
Is there any guidance in the debate that will partially involve this
Committee?

Chairman Gramm, in his wisdom, has arranged for us to hold a
hearing in New York on this. I guess it will be held next week.

Chairman GrRaMM. It will be held next Monday and Tuesday.

Senator SCHUMER. Just some thoughts on this issue, which is an
issue that I find nobody has a really good paradigm or role mode!l
for at this point.



37

Chairman GREENSPAN. Well, I think, in principle, what we know
about auction markets or any type of market in which there is bid
and ask system determining prices is that there tends to be a nat-
ural monopoly in the sense that the institution, the trading institu-
tion, whether it be a floor or ECN or what have you, tends to have
a competitive edge if the bid-ask spread in volume is narrower
than any competition,

Senator SCHUMER. Right.

Chairman GREENSPAN. To the extent that occurs, the trading will
automatically flow toward the institution with the smaller spread.
The competitive capability of everyone else will decline, and all of
the business will converge, other things equal, to a central market.

We saw that happen, for example, with the New York Cotton Ex-
change and the New Orleans Cotton Exchange, which I believe 1
may have mentioned to you at one time.

Senator SCHUMER. You did.

Chairman GREENSPAN. That is what is happening here. With the
huge advances in technology and communication, the capacity to
have all trades of a specific type struck in a central marketplace
in real time has increased vastly. Back 20, 30 years ago, you could
not do that, and we did have disparate markets and we did have
trading of the same stock and the same commodity in a lot of dif-
ferent places.

The question really occurs here as to what extent Government
has a role here, or should we just let the private sector create what
it needs to create? My judgment is, definitely, let's do that because
the technologies are not going to be easily forecastable and the self-
interest of the traders is going to largely create that sort of instru-
ment, that sort of exchange, that sort of entity which they find
gives them the lowest cost and the greatest liquidity.

Senator SCHUMER. I have one followup question. Would certain
values that the Government has, through the SEC, instilled in the
market—transparency, the availability of the “price” of the buy
and sell—which some are arguing shouldn’t happen now—I guess
Schwab is one of those that has argued against it as a barrer to
competition—should that be a value that we should continuve to
pursue as we let the private sector choose the most efficient?

Chairman GREENSPAN. Senator, it is a value. The question, I be-
lieve, that has to be focused on as far as governmental policy is
concerned, is will the market create it by itself? In other words, if
it is a value, will it happen automatically or is there anything that
Government should or could do?

Clearly, the one thing that Government has to do is to prevent
fraud. The issue of adherence to law and law of contracts and all
various different types of governmental-associated characteristics of
markets can only be done by Government. It is crucially important
that the issue of the sanctity of contracts and fraud be emphasized
in governmental policy.

But I think it is important to try to distinguish which types of
values will get created because they are of value to the market-
place by themselves, and in which Government should not have a
role. That’s where I think the debate has to be.

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Chairman Greenspan.

Tharnk you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman GRaMM. Well, Chairman Greenspan, let me say this
has been a very good hearing. I envy your ability to sit here for
such long periods of time.

We have covered a lot of subjects today. I don’t know whether
this will be the last Humphrey—Hawkins hearing we ever have, but
if it is, it was good one. There are many things that end without
ever reaching a high point.

I want te thank you for your testimony.

The Committee stands in adjournment,

[(Whereupon, at 12:38 p.m., Wednesday, February 23, 2000, the
hearing was adjourned.]

[Prepared statements and additional material supplied for the
record follow:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR WAYNE ALLARD

I would like to join Chairman Gramm and my colleagues in welcoming Federal
Reserve Board Chairman Alan Greenspan to this hearing. I always look forward to
the opportunity to hear from Chairman Greenspan concerning monetary policy and
other economic issues. It is a particular pleasure to have you, Mr. Chairman, before
this Committee knowing that we will continue to have the benefit of your service
a8 Chairman for 4 more years.

Qur Nation continues to epjoy unprecedented growth, with remarkable proeduc-
tivity increases fueling much of the growth. As a result, we are experiencing low
unemployment, increased real wages, and remarkable price stability. The members
of the Board of Governors and the Federal Reserve Bank presidents see good pros-
pects for sustained economic expansion through the year.

Congress must take advantage of these times of prosperity to plan for the future.
{ share the belief that the wisest use of our current surpluses 1is to pay down the
debt. Only through fiscal discipline can Congress ensure that future generations will
enjoy the same opportunities that we now have.

uring the previous two decades, the United States has pursued a policy of low
{axation, limited Federal regulation, free trade, and sound monetary policy. This has
resulted in a tremendous economic expansion. The expansion which began in 1983
has been interrupted by only a very modest downturn in 1991. Obviously, we should
continue these policies of limited Government.

In contrast to the United States, many of our competitors in Europe and Asia
have resorted to greater Government intervention. With the benefit of hindsight, it
is clear that the American model has produced the l%mat.est benefits.

Certainly, Alan Greenspan deserves much of the credit for the current strong
2conomy. His watchful eye and careful policies have created economic opportunities
for all Americans.

Chairman Greenspan, I look forward to your testimony.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ALAN GREENSPAN
CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM
FEBRUARY 23, 2000

Introduction

I appreciate this opportunity to present the Federal Reserve’s semiannual report
on the econm:nf' and monetary policy.

There is littie evidence that the American economy, which grew more than 4 per-
cent in 1999 and surped forward at an even faster pace in the second half of the
year, is slowing appreciably. At the same time, inflation has remained largely con-
tained. An increase in the overall rate of inflation in 1999 was mainly a result of
hi%her energy prices. Importantly, unit labor costs actually declined in the second
half of the year. Indeed, still-preliminary data indicate that tutal unit cost increases
Iast year remained extraordinarily low, even as the business expansion approached
a record 9 years. Domestic operating profit margins, after sagging for 18 months,
apparently turned up again in the fourth quarter, and profit expectations for major
corporations for the first quarter have been undergoing upward revisions since the
beginning of the year—scarcely an indication of imminent economic weakness.

The Economic Forces at Work

Underlying this performance, unprecedented in my half-century of cbserving the
American economy, is a continuing acceleration in Eroductivity.rilonfarm business
output per workhour increased 34 percent during the past year—likely more than
4 percent when measured by nonfarm business income. Security analysts’ projec-
tions of long-term earnings, an indicator of expectations of company productivity,
continued to be revised upward in January, extending a string of upward revisions
that began in early 1995. One result of this remarkable economic performance has
been a pronounced increase in living standards for the majority of Americans. An-
other has been a labor market that has provided job opportunities for large numbers
of people previously struggling to get on the first rung of a ladder leading to train-
ing, skills, and permanent employment.

et those profoundly beneficial forces driving the American economy to competi-
tive excellence are also engendering a set of imbalances that, unless contained,
threaten our continuing prosperity, Accelerating productivity entails a matching ac-
celeration in the potential output of goods and services and a corresponding rise in
real incomes available to purchase the new output. The problem is that the pickup
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in productivity tends to create even greater increases in aggregate demand than in
potential aggregate supply. This occurs principally because a rise in structural pro-
ductivity growth has its counterpart in higher expectationa for long-term corporate
earnings. This, in turn, not only spurs business investment but also increases stock
prices and the market value of assets held by households, creating additional pur-
chasing power for which no additional goods or services have yet been produced,

Historical evidence suggests that perhaps 3 to 4 cents out of every additional dol-
lar of stock market wealth eventually is reflected in increased consumer purchases.
The sharp rise in the amount of consumer outlays relative to disposable incomes in
recent years, and the corresponding fall in the saving rate, has been consistent with
this so-called wealth effect on household purchases. Moreover, higher stock prices,
by lowering the cost of equity capital, have helped to support the boom in capital
spending.

Pg)utlags prompted by capital gains in excess of increases in income, as best we
can judge, have added about 1 percentage point to annual growth of gross domestic
purchases, on average, over the past 5 years. The additional growth in spending of
recent years that has accompanied these wealth gains as well as other supporting
influences on the economy appears to have been met in about equal measure from
increased net imports and from goods and services produced by the net increase in
newly hired workers over and above the normal growth of the workforce, including
a substantial net inflow of workers from abroad.

But these safety vaives that have been supplying goods and services to meet the
recent increments to purchasing power largeTy generated by capital gains cannot
be expected to absorb an excess of demand over supply indefinitely. First, growing
net imports and a widening current account deficit require ever larger portfolio and
direct foreign investments in the United States, an outcome that cannot continue
without limit.

Imbalances in the labor markets perha{xs may have even more serious implica-
tions for inflation pressures, While the poo!l of officially unemployed and those other-
wise willing to work may continue to shrink, as it has persistently over the past
7 years, there is an effective limit to new hiring, unless immigration i3 uncapped.
At some point in the continuous reduction in the number of available workers will-
ing to take jobs, short of the repeal of the law of supply and demand, wage increases
must rise above even impressive gains in productivity. This would intensify infla-
tionary pressures or squeeze profit margins, with either outcome capable of bringing
our growing prosperity to an end.

As would be expected, imbalances between demand and potential supply in mar-
kets for goods and services are being mirrored in the financial markets by an excess
in the demand for funds. As a consequence, market interest rates are already mov-
ing in the direction of containing the excess of demand in financial markets and
therefore in product markets as well. For example, BBB corporate bond rates ad-
Jjusted for inflation expectations have risen by more than 1 percentage point during
the past 2 years. However, to date, rising business earnings expectations and declin-
ing compensation for risk have more than offset the effects of this increase, propel-
ling equity prices and the weaith effect even higher. Should this process continue,
however, with the assistance of a monetary policy vigilant against emerging macro-
economic imbalances, real long-term rates will at some point be high enough to fi-
nally balance demand with supply at the economy’s petential in both the financial
and preduct markets. Other things equal, this condition will involve equity discount
factors high enough to bring the rise in asset values into line with that of household
incomes, thereby stemming the impetus to consumption relative to income that has
come from rising wealth. This does not necessarily imply a decline in asset values—
although that, of course, can happen at any time for any number of reasons—but
rather that these values will increase no faster than household incomes.

Because there are limits to the amount of goods and services that can be supplied
from increasing net imports and by drawing on a limited pool of persons willing to
work, it necessarily follows that consumption cannot keep rising faster than income.
Moreover, outsized increases in wealth cannot persist indefinitely either. For so long
as the levels of consumption and investment are sensitive to asset values, equity
values increasing at a pace faster than income, other things equal, will induce a rise
in overall demand in excess of potential supply. But that situation cannot persist
without limit because the supply safety valves are themselves limited.

With foreign economies strengthening and labor markets already tight, how the
current wealth effect is finally contained will determine whether the extraordinary
exlpansion that it has helped foster can slow to a sustainable pace, without desta-
bilizing the economy in the process.
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Technological Change Continues Apace

On a broader front, there are few signs to date of slowing in the pace of innova-
tion and the spread of our newer technologies that, as I have indicated in previous
testimonies, have been at the root of our extraordinary productivity improvement.
Indeed, some analysts conjecture that we still may be in the earlier stages of the
rapid adoption of new technologies and not yet in sight of the s when this wave
of innovation will crest. With so few examples in our history, there is very little
basis for determining the particular stage of development through which we are cur-
rently passing.

Without doubt, the synergies of the microprocessor, laser, fiber-optic glass, and
satellite technologies have bmugll"lt quantum advances in information availability.
These advances, in turn, have dramatically decreased business operational uncer-
tainties and risk premiums and, thereby, have engendered major cost reductions
and productivity advances. There seems little question that further major advances
lie aﬁead. What is uncertain is the future pace of the application of these innova-
tions, because it is this pace that governs the rate of cﬂange in productivity and
economic potential.

Monetary policy, of coarse, did not produce the intellectual insights behind the
technological advances that have been responsible for the recent phenomenal re-
shaping of our economic landscape, It has, however, been instrumental, we trust,
in establishing a stable financial and economic environment with low inflation that
i3 conducive to the investments that have exploited these innovative technologies.

Federal budget policy has alse played a pivotal role. The emergence of surpluses
in the unified budget and of the associated increase in Government saving over the

ast few years has been exceptionally important to the balance of the expansion,
use the surpluses have been absorbing a portion of the potential excess of de-
mand over sustainable supply associated partly with the wealth effect. Moreover,
because the surpluses are augmenting the pool of domestic saving, they have held
interest rates below the levels that otherwise would have been needed to achieve
financial and economic balance during this period of exceptional economic growth.
They have, in effect, helped to finance and sustain the productive private invest-
ment that has been key to capturing the benefits of the newer t.eclgnologies that,
in turn, have boosted the long-term growth potential of the U.S. economy.

The recent good news on the hugget suggests that our longer-run prospects for
continuing this beneficial process of recyeling savings from the public to the private
sectors have improved greatly in recent years. Nonetheless, budget outlays are ex-
pected to come under mounting pressure as the baby boom generation moves into
retirement, a process that will get under way a decade from now. Maintaining the
surpluses and using them to repay debt over coming years will continue to be an
important way the Federal Government can encourage productivity-enhancing in-
vestment and rising standards of living, Thus, we cannot afford to be lulled into let-
ting down our guard on budgetary matters, an igsue to which I shall return later
in this testimony.

The Economic Outlook

Although the outlook is clouded by a number of uncertainties, the central ten-
dencies of the projections of the Board members and Reserve Bank presidents imply
continued good economic performance in the United States. Most of them expect eco-
nomic growth to slow somewhat this year, easing into the 3% to 3% percent area.
The unemployment rate would remain in the neighborhood of 4 to 4% percent. The
rate of inflation for total personal consumption expenditures is expected to be 1%
to 2 percent, at or a bit below the rate in 1999, which was elevated by rising energy
prices.

In preparing the forecasts, the Federal Open Market Committee members had to
consider several of the crucial demand- and supply-side forces I referred to earlier.
Continued favorable developments in labor productivity are anticipated both to raise
the economy’s capacity to produce and, through its supporting effects on real in-
comes and asset values, to boost dprivate domestic demand. When productivity-driven
wealth increases were spurring demand a few years ago, the effects on resource uti-
lization and inflation pressures were offset in part by the effects of weakening for-
eign economies and a rising foreign exchange value of the dojlar, which depressed
exports and encouraged imports. Last year, with the welcome recovery of forei
economies and with the leveling out ofy the dollar, these factors holding down de-
mand and prices in the United States started to unwind. Strong growth in foreign
economic activity is expected to continue this year, and, other things equal, the ef-
fect of the previous appreciation of the dollar should wane, augmenting demand on
U.S. resources and lessening one source of downward pressure on our prices.
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As a consequence, the necessary alignment of the growth of aggregate demand
with the growth of potential aggregate supply may well depend on restraint on
domestic demand, which continues to be buoyed by the lagged effects of increases
in stock market valuations. Accordingly, the appreciable increases in both nominal
and real intermediate- and long-term interest rates over the last 2 years should act
as a needed restraining influence in the period ahead. However, to date, interest-
sensitive spending has remained robust, and the FOMC will have to stay alert for
signs that real interest rates have not yet risen enough to bring the growth of de-
mand into line with that of potential supply, even should the acceleration of produc-
tivity continue.

Achieving that alignment seems more pressing today than it did earlier, before
the effects of imbalances began to cumulate, lessenin tKe depth of our various buff-
ers against inflationary pressures, Labor markets, for example, have tightened in
recent years as demand has persistently outstripped even accelerating potential
u]:»pl{;J As I have previously noted, we cannot be sure in an environment with so
little historical precedent what degree of labor market tautness could begin to push
unit costs and prices up more rapidly, We know, however, that there is a limit, and
we can be sure that the smaller the pool of eopie without jobs willing to take them,
the closer we are to that limit. As the FOMC indicated after its last meeting, the
risks still seem to be weighted on the side of building inflation pressures.

A central bank can best contribute to economic growth and rising standards of
living by fostering a financial environment that promotes overall balance in the
economy and price stability. Maintaining an environment of effective price stability
is essential, because the experience in the United States and abroad has under-
scored that low and stable inflation is a prerequisite for healthy, balanced, economic
expansion. Both sustained expansion and price stability provitf a backdrop against
which workers and businesses can respond to signals from the marketplace in ways
that make most efficient use of the evolving technologies.

Federal Budget Policy Issues

Before closing, I should like to revisit some issues of Federal budget policy that
I have addressed in previous congressional testimony. Some modest erosion in fiscal
discipline resulted last year through the use of the “emergency” spending initiatives
and some “creative accounting.” Although somewhat disappointing, that erosion was
amall relative to the influence of the wise choice of the Administration and the Con-
gress to allow the bulk of the unified budget surpluses projected for the next several
years to build and retire debt to the public. The idea that we should stop borrowing
from the Social Security trust fund to finance other outlays has gained surprising—
and welcome—traction, and it establishes, in effect, a new budgetary framework
that is centered on the on-budget surplus and how it should be used.

This new framework is extremely useful because it offers a very clear objective
that should strengthen budgetary discipline. It moves the budget process closer to
acerual accounting, the private sector norm, and—I would hope—the ultimate objec-
tive of Federal budget accounting.

The new budget projections from the Congressional Budget Office and the Admin-
istration generally Too reasonable. But, as many analysts have stressed, these esti-
mates represent a midrange of possible outcomes for the economy and the budget,
and actual budgetary resuFts could deviate guite significantly from current expecta-
tions. Some of the uncertainty centers on the likelihood that the recent spectacular
%rowth of labor roductivig will persist over the years ahead. Like many private
orecasters, the CBO and the Office of Management and Budget assume that pro-
ductivity growth will drop back somewhat from the recent stepped-up pace. But a
distinet possibility, as I pointed out earlier, is that the development and diffusion
of new technologies in the current wave of innovation may still be at a relatively
early stage and that the scope for further acceleration of preductivity is thus greater
than is embodied in these budget projectiona. If so, the outlook for budget surpluses
would be even brighter than is now anticipated.

But there are significant downside risks to the budget outlook as well. One is our
limited knowledge of the forces driving the surge in tax revenues in recent years.
Of course, a good part of that surge is due to the extraordinary rise in the market
value of assets which, as I noted earlier, cannot be sustained at the pace of recent
years. But that is not the entire story. These relationships are complex, and until
we have detailed tabulations compiled from actual tax returns, we shall not really
know why individual tax revenues, relative to income, have been even higher than
would have been predicted from rising asset values and bracket creep. Thus, we
cannot rule out the possibility that this so-called “tax surprise,” which has figured
so prominently in the improved budget picture of recent years, will dissipate or re-
verse. If this were to happen, the projected surpluses, even with current economic
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assumptions, would shrink appreciably and perhaps disappear. Such an outcome
would be eapecially likely if adverse developments occurred in other parts of the
budget as well—for example, if the recent slowdown in health care spending were
to be followed by a sharper pickup than is assumed in current budget projections.

Another consideration that argues for letting the unified surpluses build is that
the bud?et is still significantly short of balance when measured on an accrual basis.
If Social Security, for example, were measured on such a basis, counting benefits
when they are earned by workers rather than when they are paid cut, that program
would have shown a substantial deficit last year. The deficit would have been large
enough to push the total Federal budget into the red, and an accrual-based budget
measure could conceivably record noticeable deficits over the next few years, rather
than the surpluses now indicated by the official projections for either the total uni-
fied budget or the on-budget accounts. Such accruals take aceount of still growing
contingent liabilities that, under most reasonable sets of actuarial assumptions, cur-
rently amount to many trillions of dollars for Social Security benefits alone.

Even if accrual accounting is set aside, it might still be prudent to eschew new
longer-term, potentially irreversible commitments until we are assured that the on-
budget surplus projections are less conjectural than they are, of neceassity, today.

Allowing surpluses 1o reduce the debt to the public, rather than for all practical
purposes irrevocably committinF to their disposition in advance, can be viewed as
a holding action pending the clarification of the true underlying budget outcomes
of the next few years. Debt repaid can very readily be reberrowed to fund delayed
initiatives.

More fundamentally, the growth potential of our economy under current circum-
stances is best served, in my judgment, by allowing the unified budget surpluses
prt;igntly in train te materialize and thereby reduce the Treasury debt held by the

ublic.

P Yet I recognize that growing budget surpluses may be politically infeasible to de-
fend, If this proves to be the case, as | have also testified previously, the likelihood
of maintaining a still satisfactory overall budget pesition over the longer run is
greater, I believe, if surpluses are used to lower tax rates rather than to embark
on new spending programs. History illuatrates the difficulties of keeping spending
in check, especially in programs that are open-ended commitments, wll)-nic too often
have led to larger outlays than initially envisioned. Decisions to reduce taxes, how-
ever, are more likely to be contained by the need to maintain an adequate revenue
base to finance necessary Government services. Moreover, especially if designed to
lower marginal rates, tax reductions can offer very favorable incentives for economic
performance.

Conclusion

As the U.S. economy enters a new century as well as a new year, the time is op-

rtune to reflect on the basic characteristics of our ecenomic system that have

rought about our success in recent years. Competitive and open markets, the rule
of law, fiscal discipline, and a culture of enterprise and entrepreneurship should
continue to undergird rapid innovation and enhanced productivity that in turn
should foster a sustained further rise in living standards. It would be imprudent,
however, to presume that the business cycle has been purged from market econo-
mies s0 long as human expectations are subject to bouts of euphoria and disillusion-
ment. We can only anticipate that we will readily take such diversions in stride and
trust that beneficent fundamentals will provide the framework for continued eco-
nomic progress well into the new millennium.
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Monetary Policy Report to the Congress

Report submitted 10 the Congress on February 7,
2000. pursuant to the Full Employment and Balanced
Growth Act of 1978

MONETARY POLICY AND THE
ECONOMIC OUTLOGK

The U.5. economy posted another exceptional perfor-
mance in 1999, The ongoing expansion appears to
have maintaincd strength inte early 2000 as it set a
record for longevily., and-—aside from the direct
effects of higher crude cii prices—inftation has
remained subducd, 1n marked contrast to the typical
eaperience during previous expansions. The past year
brought addiuonal evidence that praductivity growth
has improved substantially since the mid-1990s,
bousting living standards while heiping to hold down
increases in costs and prices despite very tight labor
markets.

The Federal Open Market Committee’s pursuit of
financial condittons consistent with sustained expan-
sion and low inflation has requited some adjustments
1o the settings of monetary policy instruments over
the past two years. In late 1998, to cushion the US.
ceonomy from the effects of disruptions in world
financial markets and 1c ameliorate some of the
resulting strains, money market conditions were
cased. By the middle of last year, however, with
financial markets resuming normal funcuoning, for-
eign economies recovering, and domestic demand
coalnuing to oulpace increases in productive poten-
tial, the Committee began (o reverse thal easing.

As the year progressed, foreign economies, in
general, recovered more quickly and displayed
greater vigor than had seemed likely at the start of
the year. Domestcally, the rapid productivity growth
raised expectations of future incomes and profits and
thereby helped keep spending moving up at a faster
clip than current productive capacity. Meanwhile,
prices of most internanonally traded materials
rehounded from their earlier declines; this wrn-
around, together with a ftattening of the exchange
vaiue of the dollar after its earticr appreciation, trans-
led imo an easing of downward pressure on the
prices ol imports in general. Core inflation measures
generaily remained low, but with the labor market at

its tightest in three devades and becoming tighter. the
risk that pressures on costs and prices wouid eventu-
ally emerge mounted over the course ot the year. To
maintain the low-inflation environment thal has hecn
so important to the sustained health of the current
expansion, the FOMC ultimately implemented four
quarier-point increases in the intended federal funds
rate, the most recent of which came at the beginning
of this month. In total, the federal funds rate has been
raised | percentage peint, although, at 5% percent, it
stands only Y point above its level just before the
autumn-1998 financial market wrmoil. At iss most
recent meeting, the FOMC indicaied that risks appear
o remain cn the side of heightzned inflation pres-
sures, 50 it will need to remain especially attentive to
devetopments in this regard.

Manetary Policy, Financial Markets,
and the Economy over 1999 and Early 2000

The fiest quarter of 1999 saw a further unwinding of
the heightened levels of perceived risk and risk aver-
sion that had affticted financial markers in the autumn
of 1998: invesiors became much mere willing 10
advance funds, securities issuance picked up, and risk
spreads felt further—though not back to the unusu-
alty low levels of the first half of 1998. A1 the same
time. domestic demand remained quite strong, and
foreign cconomies showed signs of rebounding. The
FOMC concluded at its February and March meet-
ings that, if these trends were w persist, the risks of
the eventual emergence of somewhar greater inflation
pressures would increase, and it noted Lhat a case
could bc made tor unwinding part of the casing
actions of the preceding fall. However, the Commit-
tee hesitated o adjust policy before having greater
assurance thal the recovenies in domestic financial
markets and foreign economies were on firm footing,

By the May meeting, these recoveries were sodidi-
fying, and the pace of domestic spending appeared to
be outstripping the growih of the economy’s poten-
tial, even allowing for an appreciable acceleration
in productivity. The Committee still expecled some
slowing in the expansion of aggregate Jemand, but
the timing and extent of any moderation remained
uncertain. Against this backdrop, the FOMC main-
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tained an unchanged palicy stance but anhounced
immediately after the meeting that it had chosen a
directive tilted toward the possibiiity of a firming of
rates. This announcement implemented the disclosure
policy adopted in December 1998, whereby major
shifts in the Committee’s views about the balance of
risks or the likely direciion of futare policy would be
made public immediately. Members expected that, by
making the FOMC's concerns public earlier, such
announcements would encourage nnancial market
reactions o subsequent information that would help
stabilize the economy. In practice, however, those
reactions scemed 10 be exaggerated and (0 focus even
more than usual on possible near-term Commitiee
action.

Ower subsequent weeks, economic activity contin-
ued to expand vigorously, labor markets remained
very tighl, and oil and other commodity prices rose
further. In this environment, the FOMC saw an
updrift in inflation as a significant risk in the absence
of some policy firming, and at the June meeting it
raised the intended level of the federal funds rate
Ya percentage point. The Commitice also announced
a symmetric directive, noting that the marked degree
of uncertainty about the extent and Liming of prospec-
tive inflationary pressures meant that further firming
of policy might not be undertaken m the near term,
but that the Committee would need to be especially
alert to emerging inflation pressures. Markets rallied
on the symmetric-directive announcement, and the
strength of this response together with market com-
mentary suggested uncertainty about the nterpreta-
uon of the language used to characterize possible
future develcpments and about the time pericd to
which the directive applied.

In tbe period between the June and Augusi meet-
ings. the ongoing strength of domestic demand and
further expansion abroad soggested that at least pan
of the remaining easing put in place the previous fall
to deal with financial market stresses was no longer
needed. Consequently. at the August meeling the
FOMC raiscd the intended level of the federal funds
rate a further Y/ percentage point. to 5% percent. The
Commiitee agreed that this action, along with that
taken in June, would sebstantially reduce inflation
risks and again announced a symmetric directive. Ina
related action, the Board of Governors appreved an
increase in the discount rate o 4% percent. At this
meeting the Committee also cstablished a working
group 10 assess the FOMC's approach (o disclosing
its view about prospecuive devetppmenis and to pro-
pose procedural modifications,

At its August meeting, the FOMC took a number
of actions that were aimed at enhancing the ability of

the Manager of the System Open Markel Account 10
counter potential liquidity strains in the period around
the century date change and that would also help
ensure the effective impiementation of the Commit-
tee’s monetary policy objectives. Although members
believed that efforts (0 prepare computer systems for
the ceatury date change had made the probahitity of
significant disruptions quite small, some aversion o
Y2K risk exposure was already evident in the mar-
kets, and the costs thal might stem from a dysfunc-
tional financing market at year-end were deemed o
be unacceptabty high. The FOMC agreed to autho-
rize, temporarily, (1} a widening of the pool of coliat-
eral that could be accepted in Systern open market
ransactions, (2} the use of reverse repurchase agree-
ment accounting in addition to the currently avail-
able matched sale-purchase transactions 10 absorb
reserves temporarily, and (3) the auction of options
on repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agree-
ments, and matched sale—purchase transactions that
could be exercised in the period around year-end.
The Committee also authorized z permanent exten-
sicn of the maximum maturity on regular repurchase
and matched sale—purchase transactions from sixty 10
ninety days.

The broader range of collaleral approved for repur-
chase transaclions—mainly pass-through mortgage
securities of government-sponsored enterprises and
STRIP securities of the U.8. Treasury—would faciii-
tate the Manager’s lask of addressing what could be
very large needs 1o supply reserves in the succeeding
months, primarily in respense to rapid increases in
the demand for currency, at a time of potentaily
heightened demand in various markets for U.S. gov-
ernment securitics. The standby financing facility,
authorizing the Federal Reserve Bank of New York
1o auction the above-mentioned options (o the gov-
¢Irmment securities deaiers that are regular counter-
parties in the System's open market operations,
would encourage marketmaking and the maintenance
of liquid financing markets essential to effective cpen
market operations. The standby facility was also
viewed a3 a useful complement to the special liquid-
ity facility, which was (o provide sound depository
institutions with unrestricted access to the discount
window, at a penalty rate, between October 1999 and
Aprl 2000. Finally, the decision to extend the maxi-
mum marturity on repurchase and maiched safe-
purchase transactions was intended to bring the 1erms
of such transactions into conformance with market
practice and to enhance the Manager's abdity over
the following months w implement the uwnusually
large reserve operations expected 10 be required
around the wrn of the year.
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Incoming information during the period leading up
to the FOMC’s October meeting suggested that the
growth of domestic economic activity had picked up
from the second quarter’s pace, and foreign econo-
mies appeared to be strengthening more than had
been anticipated, potentially adding pressure to
ulready-taut labor markets and possibly creating
inflationary imbalances that would undermine eco-
nomic performance. But the FOMC viewed the risk
of 4 significant increase in inflation in the near term
as small and decided 10 awail more evidence on how
the economy was responding to its previous tighten-
ings before changing its policy siance. However, the
Committee ansicipated that the evidence might well
signal the need for additional tightening, and it again
announced a directive that was biased toward
restraint.

[nformation available through mid-November
pointed toward robust growth in overall economic
activity and a further depletion of the pool of unem-
ployed workers willing to Lake a jub. Although higher
real interest rates appeared o have induced some
softening in interest-sensitive sectors of the economy,
the anticipated moderation in the growth of aggregaie
demand did not appear sufficient to avoid added
pressures on resources, predominandly labor. These
conditicns, along with further increases in oil and
other commaodity prices, suggested a significant risk
that intlation wouid pick up over time, given prevail-
ing financial condiions. Against this backdrop, the
FOMC raised the rarget for the federal funds rate an
additional Ya pereentage point in November. A1 that
lime, a symmetric directive was adopted, comsistent
with the Committee’s expectation that no further
policy mave was likely to be considered before the
February meeting. In a related acuon, the Board of

tal axis zre those on which either the FOMC held a scheduled mecting of a
policy action was ansounced. Lasi obscrvanons are for Rebruary | . 2000

Governors approved an increase in the discount rate
of Y percentage point, to 5 percent.

At the December meeting, FOMC members held
the stance of policy unchanged and, 10 avoid any
misinterpretation of policy intentions that might
unsettle financial markets around the cemtury date
change, announced a symmetric directive. But the
statement jssued after the meeting atso highlighted
members® continuing concern about inflation risks
going forward and indicated the Committee’s inten-
tion to evaluate, as so0n as ils next meeting, whether
those risks swggested that further tighlening was
ApprOpTIAE.

The FOMC also decided on some modifications
1o its disclosure procedures at the December meet-
ing, at which the working group mentioned above
transmitied its final report and proposals. These
modifications, announced in January 2000, consisted
primarily of a plan to issue a statement after every
FOMC meeting that not only would convey the
current stance of policy but also would categorize
risks 1o the outlook as either weighted mainly toward
conditons that may generate heightened intlation
pressures, weighted mainly toward conditions that
may generate economic weakness, or balanced with
respect 10 the goals of maximum employment and
stabie prices over the foreseeable future. The changes
eliminated uncertainty about the circumstances
under which an announcement would be made;
they clarified that the Commirttee’s stalement about
future prospects extended beyond the intermeeting
period; and they characterized the Commitiee’s views
abour future developments in a way chat reflected
policy discussions and that members hoped would
be more helpfil to the public and 10 financial
markets.
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Financial markets and the economy came through
the century date change smoothly. By the February
200{) meeting, there was litlie evidence that demand
was coming into line with potential supply, and the
risks of inflationary imbalances appeared o have
risen. Al the meeting, the FOMC raised its target
for the federal funds rate Ya percentage point 10
5% percent, and characterized the risks as remain-
ing on the side of higher inftation pressures. In a
related action, the Board of Governors approved a
Y4 percentage point increase in the discount rate, 10
3V percent,

Economic Projections for 2000

The members of the Board of Governors and the
Federal Reserve Bank presidents, all of whom partici-
pate in the deliberations of the FOMC, expect 1o see
another year of favorable economic performance in
2000, although the risk of higher inflanon will need
to be watched especialty carefully. The central ten-
dency of the FOMC participants’ forecasts of real
GDP growih from the fourth quarter of 1999 o the
fourth quarter of 2000 is 3% percent to 3% per-
cent. A substantial part of the gain in output wiil
likely come from further increases in productivity.
Nonetheless, economic expansion at the pace that is
anticipated shouid create enough new jobs 1o keep
the unemployment rate in a range of 4 percent
lo 4Va percent, close to its recent average. The central
tendency of the FOMC participants” inflanon fore-
casts for 2000-—as measured by the chain-type price
index for personal consumption expenditures—is
1¥4 percent 10 2 pefcent, a range that runs a little o
the low side of the energy-ied 2 percent rise posted in
1999, Even though fuwres markets suggest that
energy prices may turn down later this year, prices
elsewhere in the economy could be pushed upward

1. In past Monetary Policy Repors 10 the Congress. the FOMC has
tramed its inflation forecasts in lerms of rthe consumer price index,
The chain-type price index for PCE draws extensively on data from
the consumer price index but. while not entirely free of measurement
problems, has severul advantages rclative to the CPI. The PCE chain-
type index 15 constructed from a formuia thar reflects the chunging
composition of spending and thereby avoids some of the upward bias
associated with (he fixed-weight nalure of the CPl. n addition. the
weights are based on o mere ive measure of cxpenditures.
Finally. historical data used in the PCE price index can be revised to
accuunt for newly avatlable information and for improvemenis in

Juding those that alfeet source data from
lhe CPL the result is 2 more consistent series over nme. This switch in
presentation nowwithstanding, the FOMC will continee 1o rely on a
variety of aggregale price measures. 15 well as other mformation vn
prices and costs, in ussessing the path of inflasion.

Econemic projections for 2000
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by a combination of factors, including reduced
restraint from non-oil import prices. wage and price
pressures associated with lagged effects of the past
year’s oil price nise, and larger increases in costs that
might be forthcoming in another year of tight abor
markets.

The performance of the economy—both the rate of
real growth and the rate of inflation—will depend
importantly or the course of productivity. Typically,
in past business expansions. gains in labor productiv-
ity evenwally slowed as rising demand piaced
increased pressure on plant capacity and on the work-
force, and a similar slowdown from the recent rapid
pace of productivity gain cannot be ruied out. But
with many firms still in the process of implemeniing
technologies that have proved effective in reorganiz-
ing nternal operativons or in gaining speedier access
Lo oatside resources and markets. and with the tech-
nologies themselves still advancing rapidly, a further
rise in productivity growth from the average pace of
recent years also is possible. To the extent that rapid
productivity growth can be maintained, aggregate
supply can grow faster than would otherwise be
possible.

However, the econemic processes that are giving
rise to faster productivity growth not only are lifting
aggregate supply but also are influencing the growth
of aggregate spending. With firms perceiving abun-
dant profit opportunities in productivity-enhancing
high-lech applications, investment in new eguipment
has been surging and could well continue o rise
rapidly for some time. Moreover, expectations that
the investment in new technotogies will generate
high returns have heen lifting the stock market and,
in turn. helping 1 maintain consumer spending at a
pace in cxcess of the current growth of rea] dispos-
able income. Impesus 10 demand from this source
also could persist for a while longer, given the current
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high levels of consumer confidence and the likely
lagged ctfects of the large increments to household
wealth registered 10 date. The boost to aggregate
demand from the marked pickup in productivity
growth implies that the level of interest rates needed
10 align demand with potential supply may have
increased substantiaily. Although the recent rise in
interest rates may lead to some slowing of spending,
aggregate demand may weil continue to outpace
gains in potential output over the near term, an imbal-
ance that contains the seeds of nsing inflationary
and financial pressures that coudd undermine the
expansion.

In recent years, domestic spending has been able o
grow fasier than production without engendering
inflation partly becanse the external sector has pro-
vided a safety valve, helping to relieve the pressures
on domestic resources. In particular, the rapid growth
of demand has been met in part by huge increases in
imports of goods and services, and siuggishness in
foreign economies has resirained the growth of
exports. However, foreign economies have been firm-
ing, and if recovery of these economies stays on
course, ULS. exports should increase faster than they
have in the past couple of years. Moreover, the rapid
rise of the real exchange value of the doliar through
mid-1998 has since given way to greater stability, op
average, and the tendency of the earlier appreciation
to limit export growth and boost import growth is
now diminishing. From one perspective, these exter-
nal adjustments are welcome because they will help
stow the recent rapid rates of decline in net expons
and the current account. They aiso should give a
boost o industries that have been hurt by the expon
slump, such as agriculture and some parts of
manufacturing. At the same time, however, the
adjusiments are likely to add to the nisk of an upturn
in the inflavon trend, because a strengthening of
exports will add to the pressures on U.S. resources
and a firming of the prices of non-ofl imports
will raise costs directly and aiso reduce o some
degree the competitive restraints on the prices of U-S.
progucers.

Domestically, substantial plant capacity is still
avaiiabie in some manufacturing industries an could
continue 10 exert restraint on firms' pricing decisions,
even with a diminution of competitive pressures from
abroad. However, an aiready tght domestic labor
markct has tightened still further in recent manths,
and bidding for workers, together with funther
increases in health insurance costs that appear 1o be
coming, seems likely 10 keep nominal hourly com-
pensation costs moving up at a relatively brisk pace.
To date, the increases in compensation have not had

serious inflationary consequences because they have
been offset by the advances in labor productivity,
which have held unit labor costs in check. But the
pool of available workers cannot continue 10 shrnk
without at some point touching off cost pressures that
even a4 favorable productivity trend might not be able
10 coumer. Although the governors and Reserve Bank
presidents expect productivily gains 1o be substantial
again this year, incoming data on costs, prices, and
price cxpectations will be examined carefully to make
sure a pickup of inflation does not start 10 become
embedded in the economy.

The FOMC forecasts are more optimisiic than the
economic predictions that the Administration recentty
released, but the Administration has noted that it is
being conservative in regard to its assumpticns about
producuvity growth and the potential expansion of
the economy. Relative to the Administration’s fore-
cast, the FOMC is predicting a somewhar larger rise
in real GDP in 2000 and a slightly lower unemploy-
ment rae. The inflation forecasts are fairly similar,
once account is taken of the tendency for the con-
sumer price index 1o rise more rapidly than the
chain-type price index for personal consumption
expenditures.

Money and Debt Ranges for 2000

At its most recent meeting, the FOMC reaffirmed the
monetary growth ranges for 2000 that were chosen
on a provisional basis last July: 1 percent to 5 percent
for M2, and 2 percent to 6 percent for M3. As has
been the case for some time, these ranges were
chosen to encompass money growth under conditions
of price stability and historical velocity relationships,
rather than 1o center on the expected growth of money
over the coming year or serve as guides to policy.
Given continued yncertainty aboul movemenis in
the velocities of M2 and M3 (the ratios of nominal
GDP 10 the aggregates), the Committee still has linle
condidgence that money growth within any particular
range selected for the year would be associated with
the economic performance it expected or desired.

2. Ranges for growth of monetary and debi aggregaies

Percent
T
Aggregate 1998 i 1999 : 2000
M2 - -3 15 1-5
M3 24 2-6 26
Del . ... . 37 37 17

More. Change from average for fourth quaster of preceding year to averuge
for fourth quarter of year indicated.
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Nonetheless, the Committee believes that money
growth has some value as an economic indicasor, and
it will continue to monitor the monetary aggregates
among a wide variety of economic and financial data
to inform its policy deliberations.

M2 increased 6% percent last year. With nominal
GDP rising 6 percent, M2 velocity fell a bit overall,
although ji rose in the final two quarters of the year as
market interest rates climbed relative to yields on M2
assets. Further increases in market interest rates early
this year could continue to elevate M2 velocily. Nev~
ertheless. given the Comimitice’s expectatians for
rominal GDP growth, M2 could stll be abave the
upper cad of its range in 2000,

M3 expanded 7%: percent last year, and its velocity
fell about 134 percent, a much smaller drop than in
the previous year. Non-M2 components again exhib-
ited double-digit growth, with some of the strength
auributable 10 long-term lrends and some to pre-
cautionary buildups of liquidity in advance of the
century date change. One umportant trend is the shifl
by nonfinancial businesses from direct holdings
of money market instrumems to indirect holdings
through institution-only money funds; such shifts
boost M3 at the same lime they enhance liquidity for
businesses. Money markel funds and large cemifi-
cates of deposit also ballooned late in the year as a
result of a substantial demand for liquidity around the
century date change. Adjustments from the tempo-
rarily clevated level of M3 at the end of 1999 are
likely 1o wim that aggregae’s fourth-quarter-to-
fourth-guarter growth this year, but not sufficiently to
offset the downward trend in velocity. That trend.
together with the Commitiee's cxpectation for nomi-
nal GDP growth, will probably keep M3 above the
op end of its range again this year.

Domestic nonfinancial debt grew 6% percent in
1999, near the upper end of the 3 percent to 7 percent
growth range the Commilice gstablished last Feb-
ruary. This robust growth reflected large increases
in the debt of businesses and households that were
due to substantial advances in spending as weil as to
debt-financed mergers and acquisitions. However, the
ingrease in private-sector debt was partly offset hy a
substantial decline in federal debt. The Commitiee
left the range for debt groweh in 2000 vnchanged at
3 percent to 7 percent. Atter an aberrant period in the
1980s during which debt expanded much more rap-
idly thun nominal GDP, the growth of debt has
resurned 10 its historcal pattern of about matching
the growth ot nominal GDP over the past decade. and
the Committee members expect debt lo remain within
its range again this vear.

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS
IV 1999 AND EARLY 2000

The U.5. economy retained considerable strength
in 1999, According 1o the Commerce Department’s
advance estimate, the rse in real gross domestic
product pver the four quarters of the year exceeded
4 percent for the fourth consecutive year, The growth
of household expenditures was bolstered by further
substantial gains in real ingome, favorable borrowing
terms, and a soaring siock market. Businesses seck-
ing to maintain their competitiveness and profitability
continued 1o invest heavily in high-tech equipment:
externat financing conditions in both debt and equity
markets were guite supportive. In the public sector,
further strong growth of revenues was accompanted
by a step-up in the growth of government consump-
tion and iavesiment expenditures, the pan of gov-
ernment spending that enters directly into real GDP.
The rapid growth of domestic demand gave rise to a
further huge increase in real imports of goods and
services in 1999. Exports picked up as foreign econo-
mies strengthened, but the gain fell short of that for
imports by a large margin. Availabie economic indi-
cators for Fanuary of this year show the U.S. economy
continuing to expand, with labor demand robust and
the unemployment rate edging down 10 its lowest
level in thinty years.

The combination of a strong U.S. economy and
improving ecenomic conditions abroad led to firmer
prices in some markets this past year. Industrial com-
modily prices wurned up—sharply in some cases—
after having dropped appreciably in 1998. Ol prices.
responding both te OPEC production restraint and 10
the grawth of world demand, more than doubled over
the course of the year, and the prices of non-oil
imports declined less rapidly than in previous years.

Change in real GDP

Peroene {4 (4

199)
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Change in PCE chain-type price index
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when a nising deliar, as well as sluggish conditions
abroad, had puiled them lower. The higher oil prices
of 1999 translated into sharp increases in retail energy
prices and gave a noticeable boost to consumer prices
overall: the chain-type price index for personal
consumption expenditures rose 2 percent, double the
increase of 1998. Outside the energy sector, however,
cansumer prices increased at about the same low rate
as 0 the previous year, even as the unemployment
rate continued 10 edge down. Rapid gains in pro-
ductivity enabled busimesses o offser a substantial
portion of the increases in nominal compensation,
thereby holding the rise of unit labor costs ir check,
and business pricing policies continued o be driven
to a large extent by the desire to maintain or increase
market share at the expense of some slippage in unit
profits. albeit from a high level.

The Household Sector

Personal consumption expenditures increased about
5% percent in real terms in 1999, a second year of
exceptionally rapid advance. As in other recent years,
the strength of consumption in 1999 reflecied sus-
1ained increases in employment and real hourly pay,
which boistcred the growth of real disposable per-
sonal income. Added imperus came from another
year of rapid growth in net worth, which, coming on
top of the hig gains of previous years, led households
in the aggregate 1o spend a larger porion of their
current income than they would have otherwise. The
personal saving raie, as measured in the naltonal
income and product accounts, dropped further, (0 an
average of about 2 percent in the final quarter of
199¢; it has fallen about 44 percentage points over

the past five years, a period during which yearly
gains in household net worth have averaged more
than 10 percent in nominal lerms and the ratio of
household weaith to disposable personal income has
moved up sharply.

The strengith of consumer spending this past
year extended across a broad front. Appreciable gains
were reported for most types of durable goods.
Spending on motor vehicles, which had surged about
13% percent in 1998, moved up another 5% per-
cent in 1999. The inflation-adjusted increases for
furniture, appliances, electronic equipment, and other
household durables also were quite large, supported
in part by a strong housing market. Spending on ser-
vices advanced about 42 percent in real terms, led by
sizable increases for recreation and personal business
services. Outlays for nondurables, such as food and
clothing, also rose rapictly. Exceptional strength in

Wezlth and saving

Pervent

Waalth-10-mcome: rano '

Personal saving rawe
2 -—

1562 1968 1974 1980 1986 1397 1998

1. Rato of net worth of households o wsposabk personal income. The data
exiend throagh 1999:33
2 The data extend theough 159904
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the purchases of some nondurables toward the end
of the year may have reflected precavtichary buying
by consumers in anlicipation of the century date
change; it is notabie in this regard that grocery store
sales were up sharply in December and then fell back
in January, according w the latest repon on retail
sales.

Households also continued 1o boost therr expendi-
tutes on residential struciures. Afier having surged
11 percent in 1998. residential investment rose about
3va percent aver the four quarters of 1999, according
to the advance estimate from the Commerce Depart-
ment. Moderate declings in mvestment in the second
haif of the year offser only part of the increases
recorded in the first half. As with consumption expen-
ditures, investment in housing was supported by the
stzable advances in real income and household net
worth, but this spending category was also tempered
a litle by a mse in mortgage imerest raies, which
likely was an important factor in the second-half
dewnturn.

Nearly all the indicators of housing activity showed
upbeat results for the vear. Annual sajes of new and
existing homes reached new peaks in 1999, surpass-
ing the previous highs set in 1998, Although sales
dropped back a touch in the second half of the year.
their level through year-cnd remained quite hugh by
historical standards. Builders” backlogs also were at
high levels and helped support new construction ac-
tivity even as sales cased. Late in the year, reports
that shoriages of skilled workers were delaying con-
struction hecame less frequent as building acuwity
wound down scasonrally, but builders also continved
to express concern about potenuial worker shortages
in 2000. For 1999 in total. construction began on
more than 1.3 million single-family dwellings, the
most since the late 1970s; approximately 330.000

multifamity units also were started, aboul the same
number as in each of the (wo previous years. House
prices rose appreciably and. together with the new
investment. turther boosted household ner worth in
residential real estate.

The increases in consumption and residential
investmeit in 1999 were, in part, financed by an
expansion of household debt estimated at 9% per-
cent, the largest increase in more than a decade.
Mortgage debt, which includes the borrowing against
owner equily that may be used for purposes other
than residential investment, grew a  whopping
(74 percent. Higher incerest rates fed to a sharp drop
in refinancing activity and prompted a shift wward
the use of adjustable-rate mortgages, which over the
year rose from i percenl 1o 30 percent of origina-
tions. Consumer credit advanced 7V percent. boosted
by heavy demand for consumer durables and other
big-ticket purchases. Credit supply conditions were
also favorable: commercial banks reported in Federal
Reserve surveys that they were more willing than in
the previous year or two 10 make consumer install-
ment lvans and that they remained quite willing to
make mortgage loans.

The household sector’s debt-service burden edged
up o its highest level since the late 1980s: however,
with emplovment rising rapidly and assct values
escalating, measures of credit quality for household
debt generally improved in [999. Delinquency rates
on heme mongages and credit cards declined a bit,
and those on auto loans feil more noticeably. Per-
sonal bankruptcy hlings fell sharply after having
risen for several vears to 1997 and remaining ele.
vated in 1998,

Delinquency rates vn household loans

Percom

Credst card accounts
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The Business Sector

Private nomresidential fixed investment increased
7 percent during 1999, extending by another year a
long run of rapid growih in real investment outlays.
Strenglh i capital investment has been underpinned
in recent years by the vigor of the business cxpan-
sion. by the advance and spread of computer tech-
nologies, and by the ability of most businesses 0
readily oblain funding through the credil and equity
markels.

Investment in high-tech eguipment continued to
soar in 1999, Outlays for communications equipment
rose aboul 15 percent over lhe course of the year,
boosted by 4 number of factors, including the expan-
sion of wireless communications, competition in tele-
phone markets, the continued spread of the Internet,
and the demand of Internet users for faster access Lo
it. Computer outlays rose nearly 40 percent in real
terms, and the purchases of computer software, which
in the national accounts are now counted as part of
private fixed investment, rose about 13 percent; for
both computers and software the increases were
roughly in lice with the annuai average gains during
previous years of the expansion.

The uming of investment in high-tech equipment
over the past couple of years was likely affected 10
some degree by business preparations for the century
datc change. Many large businesses reportedly in-
vested most heavily in new computer equiprrent be-
fore the siart of 19949 10 leave sufficient time for their
systems Lo be tested well before the start of 2000; a
very sleep rise in compuier invesiment in 1998—
roughly 60 percent in real terms—is consistent with
those reports. Some of the purchases in preparation
for Y2K most likely spilled over inte 1999, but the
past year also brought numerous reports of busi-

Change in real nonresidential fixed investmeot
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nesses wanting to stand pat with existing sysiems
until after the marn of the year. Growth in computer
investment in the final quarter of 1999, just before the
century rollover, was the smallest in several quarters.

Spending on other types of equipment rose moder-
ately, on balance, in 1999, Cutlays for transportation
equipment increased substanually, led by advances
in business purchases of motor vehicles and aircraft,
By contrast, a sharp decline in spending on industrial
machinery early in the year held the vearly gain for
that category to about 2 perceni; over the finai three
quarters of the year, however, outlays picked up
sharply as mdustiriat production strengthened.

Private invesiment in nenresidential strucrures fell
5 percent in 1999 according 1o the advance estimate
from the Commerce Department. Spending on struc-
tres had increased in each of the previous seven
years, rather briskly at times, and the level of invest-
ment, though down this past year, remained relatively
high and likely raised the real stock of capital
invested in structures appreciably further. Real expen-
ditures on office buildings, which have been climbing
rapidly for several years, moved up further in 1999,
to the highest level since the peak of the building
boom of the 1980s. In contrast, investment in other
types of commercial structures, which had already
regained its earlier peak, slipped back a littie, on net,
this past year. Spending on industnial structures,
which accoynts for roughly 100 percent of total real
outlays on structures, fell for a third consecutive year.
Outlays for the main types of institutional structures
also were down, according 1o the initial estimates.
Revisions (o the data on nonresidential structures
ofien are sizable, and the estimates [or each of the
three years preceding 1999 have eventually shown a
good bit more strength than was initially reporned.

After increasing for two years at a rate of about
6 percent, nonfarm business inventories expanded
more slowly this past year—about 3% percent
according to the advance GDP report. During the
year. some businesses indicawcd that they planned to
carry heavier stocks toward year-end to protect them-
selves against possible Y2K disruptions, and the rate
of accumulation did in fact pick up appreciabiy in the
fall. But business final sales remained strong, and the
ratio of nonfarm stocks 0 final sales chunged iittle,
holding toward the lower end of the range of the past
decade. With the ratio so low, businesses likely did
not enter the new year with excess stocks.

After slowing to a | percent rise in 998, the
economic profits of U.S. corporations—that s, book
profits with inventory valuation and capital consump-
1ion adjustments—picked up in 1999. Economic prof-
its over the first three quarters of the year averaged
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Change in real private nonfarm inventares

Befare-lax profits s 2 share ol GDP
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about 34 percent above the level of a year curhier.
The earnings of corporations from their operations
outside the United States rebounded in 1999 from a
brief but steep decline in the second half of 1998,
when financial market disruptions were aftecting the
world economy. The profits sarned by financial cor-
porations on their domestic operations alse picked up
after having been slowed in 1998 by the financial
turmoil; growth of these profits in 1999 would have
been greater but for a large payoul by insurance
companies 10 cover damage from Hurricane Floyd.
The protits that nonfinancial corporations earned on
their domestic operations in the first three guarters of
1999 were ubout 212 percent above the level of a year
carlier; growth of these earnings, which account for
about two-thirds of all economic profits, had slowed
to just gver 2 percent in 1998 afler averaging 13 per-
cent at a compound annual rate in the previous six
years. Nonfinancial cerporatons have boosted vol-

Gross corporate bond issuance
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ume substantially further over the past two years, but
prefils per unit of output have dropped back some-
what from their 1997 peak. As of the third quarter
of last year, economic profits of nonfinancial corpo-
rations amounted to slightly less than 11% percent
of the nominal output of these companies. compared
with a quarterly peak of about 12% percent two vears
carler.

The borrawing needs of nonfinancial corporations
remained sizable in 1999. Capital spending out-
stripped internal cash flow, and equily retiremems
that resulted from stock repurchases and o block-
buster pace of merger activity more than offsct record
volumes of both seasoned and initial public equity
otferings. Overall, the debt of nonfinancial businesses
grew 10V percent, down only a touch from its
decade-high [998 pace.

Billions sH dolfare

[t} High yield
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Noris. Rxeludes unmied issucs and issugs sold shroad.



57

Baard of Governors of the Federal Reserve Svsiem |1

The strength in business borrowing was wide-
spread across funding sotrces. Corporate bond
issnance was robust, particularly in the flest half of
the year, though the markers’ increased preference
for liquidity and quality, amid an appreciable rise
in defaults on junk bonds, leti issuance of below-
investment-grade securities down more than a guarter
from their record pace in 1998, The recepliveness of
the capital markets hetped firms to pay dowa loans at
banks—which had been boosted 10 an 11% percent
gain in 1998 by the finamcial market wrmotl that
year—and growth in these loans slowed w0 a more
moderate 5% percent pace in 1999. The commercial
paper market continued to expamt rapidly, with
domestic nonfipancial cutstandings rising 18 percemt
on op of the 14 percent gain in 1998,

Commercia] mortgage borrowing was strong agatn
as well, as real estale prices generaily continued
1o risc. albeit at a slower pace than in 998, and
vacancy rates generaily remained near historical
lows. The mix of lending shified back to banks and
life insurance comganies from commercial mortgage-
hacked sccurities, as conditions in the CMBS market,
especiatly investor appetites for Jower-rated tranches,
remained less favorable than they had been before the
credit market disreptions in the fail of 1998.

Risk spreads on corporate bonds seesawed during
1999. Over the early part of the year, spreads reversed
part of the 1'®98 run-up as mrkets recovered. During
the summer, they rose again in response 1o conGerns
ahout market liquidity, expectations of a surge in
hinancing before the century date change. and
anucipated firming of mongtary palicy. Swap spreads,

Spreads of corporate bond yields
aver Treasury secunty vields
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m particular, exhibitcd upward pressure at this time.
The likelihood of year-end difficulties seemied to
diminish n the fall, and spreads apain retremed,
ending the year down on balance but generally above
the levels that had prevailed over the several years up
to mid- [998.

Federal Reserve surveys indicaied thal banks
firmed terms and standards for commercial and indus-
trial oans a bit further, on balance. in 1999. In the
syndicated loan market, spreads for lower-rated bor-
towers 1iso ended the year higher, on balance, after
rising subsiantially in 1998. Spreads for higher-rated
boreowers wete fairly steady through 1998 and early
1999, widened a bit around midyear, and then fel!
hack Lo end the year about where they had started.

The ratio of net interest payments to cash flow for
nonfinancial firms remained in the low range it has
occupied for the past few years, bul many measures
of credit guality nonetheiess deteriorated in 1999,
Moody’s Investors Service downgraded more non-
financial debt issuers than it upgraded over the year,
affecting a net $78 hillion of debt. The problems that
emerged in the bond market were concentrated
mostly among borrawers in the junk sector, and partly
reflected a fallout from the large volume of issuance
and the generous terms available in 1997 and early
1998: default rates on junk bonds rase ro levels not
seen since the recession of 1990-91. Delinguency
rates on C&I loans at commercial banks ticked up in
1999, albeit from very low levels, while the charge-
off rate tor those inans continued on its upward trend
of the past several years. Business failures edged up
last year bul remained in a hisiorically fow range.

Net interesl payments of nonfinancial corporalions
relative to cash flow
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Annual change in real government expenditures
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The Government Sector

Buoyed by rapid increases in receipts and favorable
budget balances, the combined real expenditures of
tederal, state, and local governments on consumption
and investment rose about 4% percent from the fourth
quarter of 1998 to the fourth quarnter of 1999, Annual
data, which smooth through some of the guarterly
noise that is often evident in government outlays,
showed a gaia in real spending of more than 3 per-
cent 1his past year. the Jarges) increase of the expan-
sion. Federal expenditures on consumption and
investment were up nearly 3 percent in annual terms;
real defense e¢xpenditures, which had trended lower
through most of the 1990s. rose moderately, and
outlays for nondefense consumption and investment
increased sharply. Meanwhile, the consumplion and
investment expenditures of slate and local govern-
ments rose more than 4 percent in annual terms;

Federal receipts and expenditures
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growth of these outlays has picked up appreciably as
the expansion has lengthened.

At the federal level. expendires in the unified
budget rose 3 percent in fiscal 1999, just a touch less
than the 3% percent rise of the preceding fiscal year.
Faster growth of nominal spending on items that are
included in consumption and investment was offset in
the most recent fiscai year by a deceleration in other
categonies. Net interest outlays fefl more than 5 per-
cent—enough to nm tofal spending growth about
Va percentage point—and only smali increases were
recorded in expenditures for social insurance and
income security, categories that together account for
nearly half of total federai outlays. In contrast, fed-
eral expenditures on Medicaid, after having siowed
in 1996 and 1997, picked up again in the past two
fiscal years. Spending on agriculture doubled in fiscal
1999; the increase resulted both from a step-up in
paymenis under farm safety net programs that were
retained in the “*freedom to farm™ legislation of 1996
and from more recent emergency farm legislation.

Federal receipts grew 6 percent in fiscal 1999 after
increases that averaged close to 9 percent in the two
previous fiscal vears. Net receipts from tlaxes on
individuais continued to cutpace the growth of per-
sonal income, but by less than in other recent years,
and receipts from corporate income taxes fell moder-
ately. Nonetheless, with (otal receipts growing faster
than spending, the surplus in the unified budget con-
tinued to rise, moving from $69 billicn in fiscal 1998
te $124 billion this past fiscal year. Excluding net
interest payments—a charge resuliing from past
deficits—the tederai government recorded a surplus
of more than 3350 billion in fiscal 1999,

Federat saving, a meusure that results from a trans-
lation of the federal budget surplus into terms consis-
tent with the national income and product accounts,
amounted 10 2% percent of nominal GDP in the first
three quarters of 1999, up from 1% percent in 1998
and 4 percent in 1997. Before 1997, federal saving
had been negative for seventeen consecutive years,
by amounts exceeding 3 percent of nominal GDP in
several years—most recently in 1992, The change in
the federal government's saving position from 1992
10 1999 more than offset the sharp drop in the per-
sonal saving rate and helped lift national saving trom
less than 16 percent of nominal GDP in 1992 and
1993 10 & range of about 1845 percent to 19 percent
over the past several quarters,

Fedcral debt growth has mirrored the wrnabout in
the government’s saving position. In the 1980s and
early 1990s, borrowing resulted in large additions
to the volume of oustanding government debr. In
contrast, with the budget in surplus the past two
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years, lhe Treasury has been paying down debt, With-
out the rise in federal saving and the reversal in
borrowing, interess rates in recent years likely would
have been higher than they have been. and private
capital formation. a key element in the vigorous
economic expansion, would have besn lower. per-
haps appreciably.

The Treasury responded 10 its lower borrowing
requirements in 1999 primarily by reducing the num-
ber of auctions of thirty-year bonds from three to two
and by trimming auction sizes for notes and Treasury
infation-indexed secorities (TIIS). Weekly bill vol-
umes were increased from 1998 levels, however, 0
help build up cash holdings as a Y2K precaution. For
2000, the Treasury plans major changes in debt man-
agement in an attempt to keep down the average
matyrity of the debt and maintain sufficient avction
stzes to suppert the liquidity and benchmark status of
its most recently issued securities, while sull retiring

Federal government debi heid by the public
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large volumes of debt. Alternate quarterly refunding
auctions of five- and ten-year notes and semiannual
auctions of thirty-year bonds will now be smaller
reopenings of existing issues rather than new issues.
Thirty-year TIIS will now be auctioned once a year
rather than twice, and the two auctions of ten-year
TIIS will be modestly reduced. Auctions of one-year
Treasury bills will drop from thirteen a year to four,
while weekly biif volumes will rise somewhar.
Finaily, the Treasury plans to enter the market w buy
back in *'reverse auctions™ as much as $30 billion of
outstanding securities this year, beginning in March
or April.

State and local government debt expanded 4% per-
cent in 1999, well off last year's elevated pace.
Borrowing for new capital investmem edged up, but
the roughly full-percentage-point nse in municipal
bond vields over the year led 10 a sharp drop in
advance refundings, which in wm pulled gross issu-
ance helow last year's level. Tax revenues continued
10 grow at a robust rate, improving the financial
condition of states and localities, as reflected in a
ratio of debt rating upgrades 10 downgrades of more
than three 10 one over the year. The surplus in the
current account of state and local governments in the
first three quarters of 1994 amounted to about 4 per-
cent of norminal GDP, about the same as in 1998 but
otherwise the largest of the past several years,

The External Sector
Trade and the Current Account

U.S. external balances deteniorated in 1999 largely
because of continued declings in net exports of goods
and services and some funher weakening of net
investment income. The neminal trade deficit for
goods and services widensed more than $100 biilion
in 1999, to an estimated 3270 billion, as imporns
expanded faster than exports. For the first three quar-
ters of the year, the current account deficit increased
more than one-third. reaching $320 billion at an
annual rate, or 3% percent of GDP. In 1998, the
current account dehicit was 2% percent of GDP.

Reai imports of goods and services expanded
strongly in 1999—about 13 percent according 1o
preliminary estimates—as the raptd import growth
during the first half of the year was extended through
the second half. The expansion of real impons was
fueled by the continued strong growth of U.S. domes-
tic expenditures. Declines in non-oil import prices
through most of the year, partly reflecting previous
dollar appreciation, contributed as well. All major
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U.S. current account
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import categories other than aircraft and oil recorded
strong increascs. Whiie U.S. cansumption of oil rose
about 4 percent in 1999, the quantity of oil imported
was about unchanged, and invenlories were drawn
down.

Real exports of goods and services rose an esti-
mated 4 percent in 1999, a somewhat {asler pace than
in 1998. Economic activity abroad picked up, par-
ticularly in Canada, Mexico. and Asian developing
cconomies. However, the lagged effects of relative
prices owing to past dollar appreciation held down
exports. An upturn in US. exports to Canada,
Mexico, and key Asian emerging markets contrasted
with a much flawer pace of exports o Europe, fapan,
and South America. Capifal egquipmem composed
about 43 percent of U.S. goods exports, indusirial
supplies were 20 percent, and agriculwueral, automo-
tive. and consumer goods were cach roughly
10 percent.

Change n real imports and exports of goods and services

Tercent. (8w 4
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Capital Account

U.S. capital flows in 1999 reflected the relatively
strong cyclical position of the U.5. economy and the
giobal wave of corporate mergers. Foreign purchases
of U.5 securities remained brisk—near the level of
the previous two years, in which they had been
elevated by the global financial unrest. The composi-
tion of foreign securities purchases in 1999 showed a
continued shift away from Treasuries, in part because
of the U.S. budget surplus and the decline in the
supply of Treasunes relative to other securities and,
perhaps. w0 a general increased tolerance of foreign
investors for risk as markets calmed after their wr-
moil of late 1998. Available data indicate that private
foreigners sold on net about $20 billion in Trea-
surics. compared with net purchases of $50 hillion in
1998 and 3150 billion in 1997. These sales of Trea-
suries were more than offset by a pickup in foreign
purchases of their nearest sebstitute—government
agency honds—as well as corporate bonds and
equities.

Foreign direct investment flows into the inited
Stales were also robust in 1999, with the pace of
inflows in the first three quarters only slightly below
the record inflow set in 1998. As in 1998, direct
investment inflows last year were elevated by several
farge mergers, which lefi their impnint on other parts
of the capital account as well. In the past two years,
many of the largest mergers have been financed by
a swap of equity in the foreign acquiring firm for
equity in the U5, firm being acquired. The Bureau
of Feonomic Analysis cstimates thar 115, residents
acquired more than $100 billion of foreign equity
through this mechanism in the fiest three quarters of
1999, Separate data on market ransactions indicate
that U.S. residents made net purchases of Japanese
equtties. They also sold European equitics, probably
in an aitempt to rebalance portfolios in light of the
equity acquired through stock swaps. U.S. residents
on net purchased a small volume of foreign boruds 1n
1999, U.S. direct investment in foreign economies
also reflected the global wave of merger activity in
1999 and will iikely total something near its record
level of 1998.

Availuble data indicale a return 1o sizabic capital
inflows from foreign official sources in 1999, follow-
ing a modest outflow in 1998, The decling in forcign
official assets in the United States in 1998 was fairly
widespread, as many couniries found their currencies
under unwanted downward pressure during the tur-
moil. By conirast, the increase in foreign official
reserves in the United States in 1999 was fairly
voncenteated in a relatively few countries thal experi-
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enced unwanted ypward pressure on their currencies
vis-2-vis the U.S. dollar.

The Labor Marker

As Iin other recent years, the rapid growth of aggre-
gaie output in 1999 was associated with both strong
growth of productivity and brisk gains in employ-
ment. According to the irital estimate for 1999,
output per hour in the nonfarm business seciow rose
31 percent over the four quarters of the vear, 2nd
historical data were revised this past year to show
stronger gains than previously reported in the years
preceding 1999, As the data stand currently, the aver-
age rate of rise in ourput per hour over the past four
v2ars is aboul 2% percent—up from an average of
1~ percent from the mid-1970s (0 the end of 1995
Some of the step-up n productivity growth since
1995 can be traced to high levels of capital spending
and an accompanying faster rate of increase in the
amount of capital per worker Beyond that, the canses
are more difficalt o pin down guantitatively but
are apparently related to increased lechnological
and organizational efficiencies. Firms are not only
expanding the stock of capital but are also discover-
ing many new uses for the 1echnologies embadied in
that capital, ant workers arc becoming more skilled
at employing the new technologies.

The number of jobs on nontamm payrolls rose
slightly more than 2 percent from the end of 1998 to
the end of 1999, a net mcrease of 2.7 million. Annval
job gains had ranged between 2Va percent and
2% percent over the 1996-98 period. Once again in
19949, the private service-producing sector accounted
for most of the total rise in payrolf empioyment, led
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by many of the same calegories that had heen strong
in previous years—transportation and commtnica-
ions, computer services, engineering and manage-
ment, recreation, and personnel supply. In the con-
struction sector, employment growth remained quite
brisk—more than 4 percent from the final quarer of
1998 to the final quarter of 1999, Manufacturing
employment, influenced by spillover trom the disrup-
tions in foreign economies, continued o decline
sharply in the first haif of the year, but losses there-
after were small as factory production strengthened.
Since the start of the expansion in 1991, the job count
in manufacluring has changed littde, on net, but with
factory productivity rising rapidly, manufacturing
output has rended up al a brisk pace.

Measures of labor utilization
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ul January 1994 marks (he 1ntoducton of 2 redesigned survey: data from ha
point on are aol directly comparable with those of earlier pemods The dats
extend through January 2000
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In 1999, employers continued 1o face a tight labor
market. Some increase in the workforce came from
the pool of the unempioyed. and the jobless rate
declined 10 an average of 4.1 percent in the fourth
quarter. [n Janvary 2000, the rate edged down to
4.0 percent, the lowest monthly reading since the
start of the 1970s. Because the unemployment rate
is a reflection only of the number of persons who
are available for work and actively looking, it does
not capture potential iabor supply that is one step
removed—namety those individuals who are inter-
ested in working bui are not actively seeking work at
the current time. However, like the unemployment
rate itself, an augmented rate that includes these
interested nonparticipants also has declined 1o a low
level, as more individuals have taken advantage
of cxpanding opportunities to work.

Although the supply—demand balance in the labor
market tightened (urther in 1999, the added pressure
did not translate into bigger increases in nominal
hourly compensation. The employment cost index for
hourly compensation of workers in private nenfarm
industries rose 3.4 percent in nominal terms during
1999, little changed from the increase of the previous
yeur, and an alternative measure of hourly compensa-
tion from the nonfarm productivity and cost data
slowed from a 5% percent increase in 1998 w a
44 percent rise this past year, Compensation gains in
1999 probably were influenced, in pan, by the very
low inflation rate of 1998, which resulied in unex-
pectedly large increases in inflation-adiusted pay in
that year and probably damped wage increments Jast
year. According Lo the emplovment cost index, the
hourly wages of workers in private industry rose
3V2 percent in nominal terms atter having increased

Change in employment cost index
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about 4 percent in each of the two previous years.
The hourly cost w employers of the nonwage benefits
provided to employees also rose 3% percent in 1999,
but this increase was considerably larger than those
of the past few years. Much of the pickup in benetit
costs came from a faster rate of rise in the costs of
heaith insurance, which were reportedly driven up by
several factors: a mederate acceleration in the price
of medical care, the efforts of some insurers to rebuild
profit margins. and the recognition by employers that
an attractive health benefits package was helpful
in hiring and retaining workers in a tight labor
market.

Becavse the employment cost index does not cap-
ture some forms of compensaton that employers
have been using more cxicnsively—Ior example,
stock options. signing bonuses, and employee price
discounts on in-store purchases—it has likely been
understating the true size of workers™ gains. The
productivity and cost measure of hourly compensa-
tion capiures ai least some of the lzhor cosis that the
empioyment cost index omits, and this broader cov-
erage may explain why the productivity and cost
measure has been rising faster. However, it, too, is
affected by problems of measurement. some of which
would lead to overstatement of the rawe of rise in
hourly compensation.

With the rise in oulput per hour in the nontfarm
business sector in 1999 offsetting abour three-tfourths
of the rise in the productivity ard cost measure of
nomina! hourly compensation, nonlarm uwnit labor
costs were up just a shade more than | percent. Unit
labor costs had increased slightly more than 2 percent
in both 1997 and 1998 and less than 1 percent in
1996, Because labor costs are by far the mest impor-
rant iem i lotal unil cosis, these small increases
have been crucial to keeping inflation low.
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3. Altemmative measures of price change
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Prices

Rates of increase in the broader measurcs of aggre-
gate prices in 1999 were somewhat larger than those
of 1998. The chain-type price index for GDP—-which
measures inflation for goods and services produced
domestically—moved up about 14 percent, a pickup
of ¥4 percentage point from the increase of 1998. In
comparison, acceleration in various price measures
for goods and services purchased amounted to 1 per-
centage point or more: The chain-type price index for
personal consumption expenditures increased 2 per-
vent, twice as much as in the previous year, and the
chain-type price index for gruss domestic purchases,
which measures prices of the aggregate purchases of
consumers, businesses. and governments, moved up
close to 2 percent after an increase of just ¥ percent
in 1998. The consumer price index rose more than
24 percent over the four guarters of the year after
having increased 1'% percent in 1998,

The acceleration in the prices of goods and ser-
vices purchased was driven in part by a reversal in
tmport prices. In 1998, the chain-type price index for
imports of goods and services had fallen 5 percent.

Change in consumer prices
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but it rose 3 percent in 1994 A big swing n oil
prices—down in 1998 but up sharply in {99%9—-
accounted for a large part of this umaround. Exclud-
ing oil. the prices of imported goods continued to fall
in 1999 but, according to the initial estimate, less
rapidly than over the three previous years, when
downward pressure {rom appreciation of the dollar
had been considerable. The prices of imported mate-
rials and supplies rebounded, but the prices of im-
ported capital goods fell sharply further. Meanwhile,
the chain-type price index tor exports increased 1 per-
cent in the latest year. reversing a porton of the
244 percent drop of 1998, when the sluggishoess of
foreign econemies and the strength of the dollar had
pressuted ULS. producers 10 mark down the prices
charged 1o Lareign buyers.

Prices of domestically produced primary materials,
which tend 1o be especially sensitive o developmenis
in world markets, rebounded sharply n 1999, The
producer price index for crude materials excluding
food and energy advanced abour 10 percent after
having fallen about 15 percent in 1998, and the PPI
for intermediate matcrials excluding food and energy
increased about 114 percent, reversing a 1998 decline
of about that same size. But further along in the chain
of processing and distribution. the eifects of these
increases were not very visibie. The producer price
index for finished goods excluding food and energy
rose slightly less rapidly in 1999 than in 1998, and
the consumer price index lor goods cxcluding food
and energy rose at about the same low rate that it had
in [998. Large gains in productivity and a margin of
cxcess capacity in the industrial sector helped keep
prices of goods in check. even as growth of domestic
demand remained exceptionally strong,

“Core™ inflation at the comsumer level—which
takes account of the prices of services as well as the
prices of goods and excludes tood and energy
prices—changed littlle in 1999, The increase n the
core index for personal consumptton expenditures,
1% percent over the four quarters of the year, wus
about the same as the increase in 1998, As measured
hy the CPl. core inflation was 2 percent this pasi year.
about a percentage point lower than in 1998, but the
deceleration was a reflection of a change in CPI
methodology that had 1aken place at the start of last
year: on a methodotogically consistent basis. the rise
ir the core CPI was about the same in both years.

In the national accounts, the chain-type price index
for private fixed investment edged up Y percent in
1999 after having fallen about ¥ percent in 1998.
With construction costs rising, the index for residen-
tial investment increased 3% percenl, its largest
advance in several vears. By contrast. the price index
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Change in consumer prices exciuding food and energy
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for norresidential investment declined moderately, as
u result of another drop in the index for equipment
and software. Falling equipment prices are one chun-
nel through which faster productivity gains have been
reshaping the economy in recent years; the drop in
prices has contributed o high levels of investment,
rapid expansion of the capital stock. and a step-up in
the growth of powntial cutput.

US. Financial Markets

Financiai markets werc somewhat unsectled as 1999
began, with the disruptions of the previous autumn
shfl unwinding and the devalwation ot the Brazilian
real causing somne jitters around mid-January. How-
cver, market conditions improved inta the spring,
evidenced in part by increased trading volumes and
narrowed bid-asked and credit spreads. as it became
increasingly evident that strong growth was continu-
ing in the United States, and thal cconomies abroad
were rebounding. [n this environment. market partici-
pants began 10 anticipate that the Federal Reserve
wouid reverse the policy easings of the preceding
fall. and interest rates rose. Nevertheless, improved
profil expectations apparentiy more than offset the
interest rate increases, and equity prices continued 10
climp untii fate spring. From May into the fail, hoth
cquity prices and longer-termn interest rales moved in
4 choppy fashion. while shon-term interest rates
moved up with monetary policy ughtenings in June,
August, and November. Worries about Y2K hecame
pronounced after midyear and expectations of an
geeeleration of borrowing ahead of the fourth quarter
prompied u resurgence in liquidity and credit premi-
ums. In the closing months of the year, however. the
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likelihood of outsized demands for credit and liquid-
ity over lhe year-end subsided. causing spreads io
narrow. and stock prices surged once again. After
the century date change passed without disruptions.
liquidity improved and irading volumes gzrew,
although both bond and equity prices have remained
quite volatile so tar this year.

Interest Rales

QOver the first few monshs of 1999, short-lerm Trea-
sury rales moved ir a narrow range, anchered by
an unchanged stance of moenetary policy. Yields on
mtermediate- and long-term Treasury securities rose,
however, as the flight ro quality and liquidity of the
preceding fall vnwound. and incoming duwr poimed

Selucted Treasury rates. quarterly data
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1o conttnued robust economic growth and likely Fed-
eral Reserve tightening. Over most of the rest of the
year, short-term Treasury rates moved broadly in line
with the three quarter-point increases in the target
federal funds rate: fonger-ierm yields rose less, as
markets had already anticipated some of those policy
actions.

Bond and note yields moved sharply higher from
early November 1999 10 mid-January 2000, as YIK
fears diminished, incoming data indicated surprising
cconomic vitality, and the century date change was
negotiaked without significant technical problems.
In recent weeks, long-term Treasury yields have
retraced a good portion of that rise on expectalions
of reduced supply stemming from the Treasury’s new
buyback program and reductions n the armount of
bonds to be auctioned. This rally has been mostly
contined o the long end of the Treasury market;
long-term comporate bond yields have fallen only
slightly, and yields are largely unchanged or have
risen a licde further at masurities of ten years or less,
where most private barrowing is concentrated.

Congcerns about liquidity and credit risk around the
century date change led 10 large premiums in private
money market rates in the second half of 1999.
During the summer, this “safe haven™ demand helid
down rates on Treasury bills maturing early in the
new year, until the announcement in August that the
Treasury was targeting an unusually large year-end
cash balance. implying that it would issue a substan-
tial voiume of January-dated cash management bills.
Year-end premiums in eurodollar, commercial paper,
term federal funds, and other money markets—

Eurodoilar deposit forward premium over year-end
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measured as the implied forward rate for a monthlong
period spanning the twrn relative to the rate for a
neighboring period—rose earlier and reached much
higher levels than in recent years.

These year-end premiums peaked in late Ociober
and then declined substantially, as markets reftecied
increased confidence in technical readiness and spe-
cial assurances from centrat banks that sutficient
liquidity would be available around the century date
change. Important among these assurances were sev-
eral of the Federal Reserve initiatives described in the
first section of this report. Securities dealers ook
patticular advantage of the widened pools of accept-
able collateral for open markee operations and used
large volumes of federal agency debt and mongage-
backed securities in repurchase agreements with the
Open Market Desk in the closing weeks of the year,
which helped 1o relieve a potential scarcity of Trea-
sury collateral over the turn. Market participants also
purchased options on nearly $500 billion worth of
repurchase agreements under the standby financing
faciiity and pledged more than $650 billion of collat-
eral for borrowing at the discount window. With the
smooth rollover, however, none of the RP opticns
were exercised, and borrowing at the discount win-
dow turned out to be fairly light.

Equity Prices

Nearly all major stock indexes ended 1999 in record
temitory. The Nasdaq composite index paced the
advance by soaring 86 percent over the vear, and the
S5&P 500 and Dow Jones Industrial Average posted
still-impressive gains of 20 percent and 25 percent.

Major stock price indexes
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Equity vaiuaticen and long-term real interest rate

Domestic nonfinancial debt: Annual range and actuail level
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Last year was the fifth consecutive year that all three
indexes posted doubic-digit retumns, Most stock
indexes moved up sharply over the ficst few months
of the year and were about flat on net from May
through August; they then declined into Getober
before surging in the final months of the year. The
Nasdaq index, in particalar, achieved most of is
annual gains in November and December. Stock price
advances in 1999 were not very broad-based, how-
ever: More than half of the S&P 500 issues lost value
over e vear. So far in 2000, s1ock prices have been
volatile and mixed: major indexes cusrently span a
range from the Dow's nearly 10 percent drop to the
Nasdaq's 8 percent advance.

Almost all key industry groups performed well.
One exception was shares of financial firms, which
were flat, on batance. Investor perceptions that rising
interest rates would hurt earnings and, possibly, con-
cern over loan guality apparently offset the boost
resulting from passage in the fall of legislanon
reforming the depression-era Glass—Steagall con-
straints on combining commercial bunking with
insurance and investment panking. Smatl-cap stocks,
which had lagged in 1998, also performeed well; the
Russcli 2000 index climbed 20 percent over the year
and finally surpassed its April 1998 peak in lste
December.

At large firms, stock price gains about kept pace
with expected earnings growth in 1999, and the
S&P 500 one-year-ahead camings-price ratio fluc-
tuated around the historically low level of 4 per-
cent even as real interest rales rose. Meanwhile, the
Nasdaq composite tndex’s eamings-price ratio (using
actual twelve-tmonth trailing earnimgs) plummeted

I
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from an already-slim 1'% percent to 2 percent, sug-
gesting that investors are pricing in expectations of
tremendous earnings growth at technology firms rela-
tive to historical norms.

Debt und the Monetary Aggregates
Debt and Depository [ntermediation

The debt of domestic nonligancial sectors is esti-
mated to have grown 6'2 percent in 1999 on a
fourth-quarter-to-fourth-gquarier basis, near the upper
end of the FOMC"s 3 percent to 7 percent range and
about a percentage poant faster than nominal GDP. As
was the case in 1998, robust outlays on consumer
durable soods, housing, and business investment,
as well as substantial net equity retirements, helped
sustain nonfederal sector debt growth at rates above

Domestic nonfinancial debt as a percentage of nominat GDP
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9 percent. Meanwhile, the dramaitcally increased
federal budget surplus altowed the Treasury to reduce
ity vuistanding debt about 2 percemt. These move-
ments foliow the pattern of recenl years whereby
increases in the debt of households, businesses, and
state and local governments relative to GDP have
come close to matching declines in the federal gov-
ernment share, consistent with reduced pressure on
avallable savings from the federal sector facilitating
private borrowing.

After increasing for several years, the share of total
credil accounted for by depository instituteons lev-
cled out in 1999. Growth in credit extended by those
institutions edged down o 6% percent from 64 per-
cent in 1998, Adjusted for mark-to-macket account-
ing ruies, bank credit growth retreated from 10V per-
cent in 1998 10 5'% percent last year, with @ con-
siderable portion of the slowdown attributable 10
an unwinding of the surge in holdings of non-U.S.
SOVEIMmENt securities, business toans, and security
loans that had been built up during the market disrup-
tions in the fall of’ 1998. Real estate joans constituted
une of the few categories of bank credit that acceler-
ated in 1999. By contrast, thrift ¢redit swelled 9 per-
cent. up from a 4%z percent gain in 1998, as rising
morigage interest rates led bowowers to opt more
frequently for adjustabie-rate mortgages, which
thrifis tend to keep on their books. The wend woward
securitizanion of consumer loans continued in 1999:
Bank onginaions of consumer joans were up about
3 percent, while holdings ran off at a 1% percent
pace.

3. Growth of money and debt

M3: Annual runge and actual level
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The Monetary Aggregaies

Growth of the broad monetary aggregales moderated
significantly last year. Nevertheless, as was expeciet
by the FOMC last February and July, both M2
and M3 finished the year above their annual price-
stability ranges. M3 rose 74 percent in 1999, some-
what owtside the Commiiee’s range of 2 percent
w0 & percent but far below the nearly 11 percenl
pace of 1998. M3 growth retreated early in 1999, as
the surge in depository credit in the final quarter of
19498 wnwound and depository institutions curbed
their issuance of the managed liabilities included
in that aggregate. Ar that ume, the expansion of
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nstitution-only money funds also slowed with the
ebbing of heighicned preferences for liquid assets.
However, M3 bulged again in the fourth quarter
of 1999, as loan growth picked up and banks
funded the increase mainly with large time deposits
and other managed liabilities in M3. US. bran-
ches and agencies of foreign banks stepped up issu-
ance of large certificates of deposit, in part (0 aug-
ment the liquidity of their head offices over the
century date change, apparently because it was
cheaper 1o fund in U.S. markets. Domestic banks
needed the additional funding because of strong Ioan
growth and a buildup in vauli cash for Y2ZK contin-
gencies. Corporations apparently buile up year-end
precautionary Jiquidily in instilution-only money
funds, which provided a further boost o M3 late
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in the year. Early in 2000, these effects began to
unwind.

M2 increased 6% percent in 1999, somewhat above
the FOMC's range of | percent to 5 percent. Both the
easing of elevated demands for liquid assets that had
hoosted M2 in the fourth quarter of 1998 and a rise
in its opportunity cost (the difference between inter-
est rates on shorl-term market instruments and the
rales available on M2 assets) tended to bring down
M2 growth in 1999, That rise in opportunity cost also
helped to halt the decline in M2 velocity that had
begun in mid- 1997, aithough the 134 percent (annual
raie) rise in velocity cver the second half of 1999 was
not enough to offset the drop in the first half of the
year. Within M2, currency demand grew brskly over
the year as a whole, reflecting booming retail sales
and, late in the ycar, some precautionary buiidup for
Y2K. Money stock currency grew at an annualized
raic of 28 percent in December and then ran off in the
weeks after the turn of the year.

In anticipation of a surge in the public’s demand
for currency, depository institutions vastly expanded
thesr holdings of vault cash, beginning in the fall
o avoid potential constrainis in the ability of the
armored car industry 10 accommodate large currency
shipments late in the year. Depositories’ cash draw-
ings reduced their Federal Reserve balances and
drained subsantial volumes of reserves, and, in mid-
December, large precautionary increasas in the Trea-
sury’s cash balance and in foreign central banks'
liquid investments at the Federal Reserve did as well,
The magnitude of these flows was largely anticipated
by the System, and, to replace the lost reserves,
during the fourth quarter the Desk eutered into a
number of longer-maturity repurchase agreements
timed to mature early in 2000. The Desk also
executed a large number of shom-term repurchase
transactions for over the turn of the year, including
some in the forward market, o provide sufficiem
reserves and suppor market liquidity.

The public’s demand for currency shrough year-
end. though apprectable, remained well below the
level for which the banking system was prepared. and
vault cash at the beginning of January stood about
$38 billion abuve its year-ago level. This excess vault
cush, and other century date change effects in money
and reserve markets, unwound quickly after the
smooth transition info the new year.

International Developments

Glohal economic conditions improved in 999 after 2
year of depressed growth and heighlened financial
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market instability. Financial markets in developing
countries, which had been hit hard by crises in Asia
and Russia in tecent years, recovered last year. The
pace of activity in developing countries increased,
with Agian emerging-market economies in particuiar
bouncing back strongly from the output declings of
the preceding year, Real growth improved in almost
all the major industrial economies as well. This
strengthening of activity contributed to a general rise
in equity prices and a widespread increase in interest
rates. Despite stronger activity and higher prices for
il and other commodities, average foreign infiation
was lower in 1999 than in 1998, as output remained
below potential in most countries.

Although the general theme in emerging financial
markets in 1999 was a rewrn to stability, the year
began with heighlened tension as a result of a finan-
cial crisis m Brazil. With the effects of the August
1948 coltapse of the ruble and the default on Russian
government debt still reverberating, Brazil was
forced to abandon its exchange-rate-based stabiliza-
ton program in January 1999. The real, allowed to
float, soon fell nearly 3O percer against the dollar,
generating fears of a depreciation~inflation spiral that
could return Brazil to its high-inflation past. In addi-
tion. there were concerns that the government might
default on its domestic-currency and dollar-indexed
debt, the latter totaiing more than $50 billion. In the
cvent, these lears proved unfounded. The turming
poine appears to have come in March when a new
central bank governor announced thar fighting infla-
tiont was a lop priority and interest rales were substan-
tially raised (o support the real. Over the remainder
of the year. Brazilian financiul markets stabilized
on balance, despite continuing concerns about the
government's ability to reduce the fiscal deticit. Infla-
ton, although accelerating from the previous year,
remained under 10 percent. Brazilian economic activ-
ity alse recovered somewhat in 1999, after declining
in 1998, as the return of coniidence allowed officials
to lower short-term interest rates substantiatly from
their cnsis-refaled peak tevels of early in the year.

The Brazilian crisis tiggered some renewed fnan-
cial stress in other Latin American cconomies, and
domesiic interest rates and Brady bond yield spreads
increased sharply from levels already eievated by
the Russian cnisis. However. as the sitwation in
Brazil imgroved. financial conditions in the rest of
the region stabilized relatively rapidly. Even so. the
combination of elevated risk premiums and dimin-
ished aceess o internationzi credit markets tended o
depress activily in much of the region ir the first half
of 1999, Probably the most strongly affected was
Argentina, where the exchange rate peg 1o the dollar

was maintained only at the cost of contnued high
real interest rates that conuibuted to the decline in
real GDP in 1999, In contrast, real GDP in Mexico
rose an estimaled 6 percent in [999, atded by higher
oil prices and strong export growth to the United
States. The peso appreciated against the dollar for the
year as a whole, despite a Mexican inflation rate
about 10 percentage points higher than in the United
States.

The recovery of activity last year in Asian devei-
oping countries was carlier, more widespread, and
sharper than in Laun America, just as the downturn
had been the previous year. After a steep drop in
activity in the immediate wake of the financial crises
that hit several Asian emerging-market economies in
late 1997, the preconditions for a revival in activity
were sef by measures initiated to stabilize shaky
financial markets and banking sectors, often in con-
Jjunction with Inernational Monetary Fund programs
that provided financial support. Onee financial condi-
tions had heen stabilized, monetary policies turned
accomnmodative in 1998, and this stimulus, along
with the shift toward fscal deficits and an onpoing
beost to net exports provided by the sharp deprecia-
tions of their currencies, laid the foundation for last
year's strong revival in activity. Korea's recovery
was the most robust, with real GDP estimated to have
increased more than 10 percent in 1999 after falling
§ percent the previous year. The governmeni contin-
ued to make progress toward nceded financial and
corporate sector reform. However, significant weak-
nesses remained, as evidenced by the near collapse of
Daewono, Korea's second largest conglomerate. Other
Asian developing countries that experienced financiat
difficulties in late 1997 (Thailand, Malaysia. Indone-
sia, and the Philippines) also recorded increases in
real GDP in 1999 after declines the previous year
Indonesian financial markets were buffeted severely
at times during 1999 by concerns about politicad
instability, but the rupiah ended the year with a
modest net appreciation against the dollar, The other
former crisis countries also saw their currencies skabi-
lrze or slightly appreciate aguainst the dollar. Inflation
rates in these countries generally declined, despite the
pickup in activity and higher prices for oil and other
commodines. Inflation was held down by the ele-
vared. if dimimshing, levels of excess capacity and
unemployment and by a waning of the inflationary
impact of previous exchange rate depreciations.

[n China, reai growth slowed moderately in 1999.
Given China’s exchange rate peg to the dollar, the
sizable depreciations elsewhere in Asia ip 1997 and
1998 led w a sharp appreciation of China's real
effective exchange rale, and here was speculation
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fus1 year that the renmirbi might be devalued. How-
ever, with China’s trade balance continuing in sub-
stantial, though reduced, surpius, Chinese officials
maintained the exchange raie peg 1o the dollar last
year and stated their intention of extending it through
at least this year. After the onset of the Asian tinan-
cial crisis, continuance of Hong Kong's currency-
board-maintained peg o the U.S. dollar was also
questioned. In the event, the tie w0 the dollar was
sustained, but oniy at the cost of high real interest
rates, which coniributed 1o a decrease in output in
Hong Kong in 1998 and early 1999 and o decline of
consumer prices over this peried. However, real GDP
started 10 move up again fater in the year, reflecting in
part the strong revival of activity in the rest of Asia.

In Russia, economic activity increased last year
despite persistent and severe structural problems.
Real GDP, which had dropped neariy 10 percent in
1998 as a result of the domestic financial cosis,
recovered about half (he loss last year. Net exports
rose¢ strongly, boosted by the lagged effect of the
substantial real depreciation of the ruble in iate 1998
und by higher oil prices. The inflalion rate moderated
1o about 50 percent, somewhat greater than the depre-
ciation of the ruble over the course of the year.

The doltar’s average foreign exchange value, mea-
sured on a wrade-weighied basis against the currencies
of a broad group of important U.S. truding partners,
ended 1999 little changed trom iis level at the begin-
ning of the year. There appearsd 1w be two maim,
roughly offsetting, pressures on the dollar last year.
On the one hand, the continued very strong growth of
the LS. economy relative 1o foreign economies
tended to support the doilur. On the other hand, the

Nominal dollar exchange rate indexes

e Lanuary 1997 — 1140

Major cumrencies

further rise in US. external deficits—with the U.S,
current account deficit moving up toward 4 percent of
GDP by the end of the year—may have tended 10
hold down the dollar because of investor concerns
that the associated strong net demand for dollar assets
might prove unsustainable. So far this year, the dol-
lar's average exchange value has increased slightly,
boosted by new evidence of swrong US. growth.
Against the currencies of the major foreign industrial
coumdries, the doflar’s most notable movements in
1999 were a substantiai depreciation against the Japa-
nesc yen and a significant appreciation relative to the
euro.

The dollar depreciated 10 percent on halance
against the yen over the course of 1999. In the first
half of the year, the dollar strengthened slightly rela-
tive to the yen, as growth in Japan appeared 10 Temain
sluggish and Japanese monetary authorties reduced
shon-ierm interest rates to near zero in an effont to
jumpstant the economy. However, around mid-vear,
several signs of a revival of activity—particularly the
announcement of unanticipaled strong growth in real
GDP in the first quarter—triggered a depreciation of
the doliar relative to the yen amid reports of large
inflows of foreign capital into the Japanese stock
market. [Jata rcleases showing that Lhe U.S. current
account deficit had reached record levels in bath the
second and third uaners of the year also appeared to
be associated with depreciations of the dollar against
the ven. Concerned that a stronger yen could harm
the fledgling recovery, Japanese monetary authorities
imervened heavily to weaken the yen on numerous
occasions. So far this year, the dollar has firmed
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about 7 percent against the yen. Japanese real GDP
increased somewhat in 1999, following two consceu-
tive years of decline. Growth was concentrated in the
first haif of the year, when domestic demand surged,
led hy fiscai stimulus. Later in the year, domestc
demand slumped, as the pace of fiscal expansion
flagged. Net exports made virtually ne coatribution
to growth for the year as a whole. Japanese consumer
prices declined slightly on halance over the course of
the year.

The new European currency, the euro, came intw
operation at the start of 1999, marking the beginning
of stage three of European economic and monetary
union. The rates of exchange between the eure and
the currencies of the eleven countries adopting the
new currency were set at the end of 1998: based on
these rates, the value of the euro at its creation was
Just under $i.17. From a technical perspective, the
introduction of the eure went smoothly, and on ils
first day of wading i1s value moved higher. However,
the euro soun started to weaken against the dollar,
intluenced by indications thal eurc-area growth
would remain very siow. After approaching parity
with the dollar in early July, the euro rehounded,
partly on gathering signs of European recovery. How-
ever, the currency weakened again in the fall, and in
carly December it reached parity with the dollar.
about where it closed the year. The euro’s weakness
late in the year was attributed in part to concerns
about the pace of markeiw-orented structural reforms
in continental Europe and to a pelitical wrangle over
the proposed imposition of a withholding tax on
investment income. On balance, the dollar appreci-
ated 16 percent relative to the euro over 1999. So
far this year, the dollar has strengthened 2 percent
lurther against the enro. Although the ewra’s for-
cign exchange valuc weakened in i1s first year
of operation, the volume of euro-denominated
transactions—particularly the isswance of debt
secunties—eapanded rapidiy.

In the eleven European countries that now fix ther
curencies (o the euro, real GDP growth remaimed
weak early in 1999 bwt strengthened subsequently
and averaged an estimated 3 percent rale for the vear
as a whole. Net exporis made a significant positive
contribution to growth, supported by a revival of
demand in Asia and Easiern Europe and by the
etfects of the euro’s depreciation. The areawide
unempioyment rate declined, albeit to a still-high rate
of nearly 10 percent. In the spring, the European
central bank lowered its policy rate 30 basis points, o
244 percent. This decline was reversed later in the
vedr in reaction to accumulating evidence of a pickup
in activity, and the rate was raised an additional

25 basis points earlier this month. The euro-area
inflation rate edged up in 1999, boosted by higher il
prices, but suli remained below the 2 percent target
ceiling.

Growth in the United Kingdom also moved higher
on balance in 1999, with growth picking up over the
course of the year. Along with the strengthening of
global demand, the recovery was stimulated by a
series of official interest rate reductions, totaling
250) hasis points, undertaken by the Bank of England
over the last half of 1998 and the first half of (999
Later in 1999 and carly this year, the policy rate was
raised four times for a total of 100 basis points, with
officials citing the need to keep inflation below its
2V percenl target level in light of the strength of
consumption and the housing market and continuing
tight conditions in the labor market. On balance, the
dollar appreciated slightly against the pound over the
course of 1999,

In Canada, real growih recovered in 1999 after
slumping the previous year in response (o the giobal
slowdown and the relaled drop in the prices of Cana-
diap commodity exports, Last year, strong demamd
from the United States spurred Canadian exports
while rising consumer and business confidence sup-
ported domestic demand. In the spring, the Bank of
Canada lowered its official interest rate twice for a
total of 50 basis points in an effort o stimulate
activity in the context of a dsing Canadian doilar.
This decline was reversed by 23-hasis-point increases
near the end of the year and earlier this month, as
Canadian inflation moved above the midpeint of its
target range, the pace of output growth increased, and
U.S. interest rates moved higher. Over the course of
1999, the U.S. dollar depreciated 6 percent on bal-
ance agawnst the Canadian dollar.

Concerns about liguidity and credit risk related to
the century date change generated a temporary bulge
in year-end premiums in money market rates in the
second half of the year in some countries. For the
euro, borrowing costs (or short-term interbank fund-
ing over the year changeover-—as measured by the
interest rate implied by the forward market for a
ope-maonth loan spanning the year-end relative 1o the
rates for neighboring months—started to rise in late
summer but then reversed nearly all of this increase
in late October and carly November before mov-
ing up more moderately in December. The sharp
October-November decline in the year-changeover
funding premium came in response te a series of
announcements by major central banks that outlined
and clarified the measures these institutions were
prepared to undertake to alleviate potential liquidity
problerns related to the century date change. For yen
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furding. the centary date chunge premiem moved in
a different pattern. fluctuating around a relatively low
level before spiking sharply for several days just
before the year-end. The late-December jump in the
yen funding premium was partly in response to date
change-related illiquidity in the Japanese government
bond repo market that emerged in early December
and persisted into carly January. To counter these
conditions, toward the end of the year the Bank of
Japan infused hoge amounts of liguidity iato its
domestic banking system, which soon brought short-
term yen funding costs back down to near zero.

Bond yieids in the major forcign industrial coun-
tnes generally moved higher on balancc in 1999,
Long-term interest rates were bhoosted by mounting
evidence that economic recovery was laking hold
abroad and by rising expeciations of monetary tight-
ening in the United States and, later, in other indus-
trial countries. Over the course of the year, long-term
interest rates increased on balance by more than
100) basis points in nearly all the major industrial
countries. The notable exception was Japan, wherc
long-term rates were little changed.
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Equity prices showed strong and widespread
increases in 1999, as the pace of global aclivity
quickened and the threat from cmerging-market
fiancial crises appeared 1o recede. In the indusirial
countries equily prices on average rose sharply,
extending the general upward trend of recent vears.
The average percentage increase of equily prices in
deveioping countries was even larger, as prices recov-
ered from their cresis-related declines of the previ-
ous year. The fact that emerging Latin American and
Asian equity markets outperformed those in indus-
trial countries lends some support to the view that
global investors increascd their risk tolerance, espe-
cially during the last months of the year.

Oil prices increased dramatically during 1999, fully
reversing the declines in the previous two years. The
average spot price for West Texas intermediate, the

Forsign equity indexes

tmuter. January 197 - 1K)

Europe !
——
\ s~ - 16l
-

Bann Amenca

120

Developing Asia

| 1 I L
1997 1998 1099

NoTE, The daw arc monthly  Last obscrvation is for e Brstiwo weeks of
February 200



73

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System 27

[J.S. benchmark crude, more than doubled, from
around $12 per barrei at the beginning of the year to
more than $26 per barmel in December. This rebound
in oil prices was driven by a combination of strength-
ening world demand and constrained world supply.
The strong U.5. economy, combined with a recovery
of economic activity abroad and a somewhat more
normal weather pattern, led o a 2 percent increase
in world oil consumption. Oil production, on the
other hand, declined 2 percent, primarily because of
reduced supplies from OPEC and other kay produc-
ers. Starting last spring, OPEC counsistently held pro-
duction near targeted levels, in marked contrast (o the
widespread lack of compliance that characterized car-
licr agreements. So far this year, oil prices have risen

further on speculation over a possible extension of
current OPEC production 1argets and the onset of
unexpectedly cold weather in key consuming regions.

The price of gold fluctuated subsiantially in 1999.
The price declined to near a twenty-year low of about
5250 per cunce at mid-year as several centeal banks,
mcluding the Bank of England and the Swiss
National Bank, announced plans 1o sell a sizable
portion of their reserves. The September announse-
ment that fifteen European central banks. including
the two just mentioned, would limit thetr aggregate
sales of bullion and curtaf leasing activities. saw the
price of gold briefly rise above $320 per ounce before
wirning down later in the vear. Recently, the price has
moved buck up, to above $300 per ounce.



